Neuropeptidergic regulation of mosquito host-seeking behaviour

Peter Christ

Faculty of Landscape Architecture, Horticulture and Crop Production Science Department of Plant Protection Biology Alnarp

> Doctoral thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Alnarp 2017

Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2017: 96

Cover: Poking mosquitoes (photo: Jenny Svennås-Gillner; SLU Mediabank)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-7760-082-4 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-7760-083-1 © 2017 Peter Christ, Alnarp Print: SLU Service/Repro, Alnarp 2017

Neuropeptidergic regulation of mosquito host-seeking behaviour

Abstract

Mosquitoes are vectors of numerous pathogens that cause human diseases, putting more than half of the world's population at risk. These diseases are transmitted when a mosquito takes a blood meal following the successful seeking of a human host. Hostseeking is highly state dependent and predominantly mediated by olfactory cues. The goal of this thesis is to describe the neuropeptidergic regulation of the state dependent odour-mediated host-seeking behaviour.

In order to identify and characterize the neuropeptides that are modulated by feeding and are involved in host-seeking, I analysed the antennal lobes, the primary olfactory centre, of Aedes aegypti, using semi-quantitative MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. Functional evidence for the involvement of the identified neuropeptides in the regulation of host-seeking was provided using neuropeptide injections. I demonstrated that short neuropeptide F-2 (sNPF-2) and allatostatin-A-5 (AstA-5) are regulated upon blood feeding and that the injection of a binary mix of sNPF-2 and AstA-5 inhibited host-seeking in non-blood fed mosquitoes, mimicking the effect of a blood meal. I next characterized the sNPF and AstA receptors (sNPFR and AstAR) from Ae. aegypti and two other important disease vectors, Culex quinquefasciatus and Anopheles coluzzii assessing the receptor conservation and function as well as the regulation of the receptors in response to blood feeding. Within the AstA signalling system, I described a dipteran-specific duplication of the AstARs (R1 and R2) in mosquitoes. Functional characterization revealed that the AstAR2s show a higher sensitivity to AstAs compared to AstAR1s in the culicine mosquitoes Ae.aegypti and Cx. quinquefasciatus. In contrast, both AstARs in An. coluzzii showed a similar sensitivity to the AstA ligands, which suggests a divergence in the AstA signalling in mosquitoes. This is in contrast to the sNPFRs in the three species, which showed a high conservation in structure and receptor sensitivity. Blood feeding results in a selective regulation of transcript abundance of the more sensitive AstAR2 and the sNPFR in Cx. quinquefasciatus, but not in Ae. aegypti or An. coluzzii. This is indicative of differences in the regulatory mechanisms for AstA and sNPF in Cx. quinquefasciatus compared with the other species.

In this thesis, I provide strong evidence that host-seeking is regulated by complex mechanisms involving at least two neuropeptidergic systems. These findings may shed new light on previous results and should encourage further investigation of other neuropeptide families. The functional characterization of the AstA and sNPF receptors leads to a better understanding of the conservation and regulation of neuropeptide signalling system and provides new targets for future research.

Keywords: olfaction, modulation, neuropeptides, short neuropeptide F, allatostatin-A, host-seeking, sugar feeding, behaviour, G protein coupled receptors

Author's address: Peter Christ, SLU, Department of Plant Protection Biology, P.O. Box 102, 230 53 Alnarp, Sweden

Dedication

To my family, to my friends, to all the ones who stand by me in times of trouble

Contents

List of publications				
Abb	reviations	9		
1	Introduction	11		
2	Biology of Mosquitoes	13		
2.1	Investigated mosquito species	14		
	2.1.1 Aedes aegypti	14		
	2.1.2 Anopheles coluzzii	15		
	2.1.3 Culex quinquefasciatus	16		
2.2	Odour-mediated behaviours of mosquitoes	16		
2.3	Odour-mediated feeding behaviours	17		
	2.3.1 Sugar seeking	17		
	2.3.2 Blood seeking	17		
2.4	Mosquito feeding behaviour within the gonotrophic cycle	18		
	2.4.1 Sugar feeding in the early imago	18		
	2.4.2 Blood feeding behaviour in non-gravid females	19		
	2.4.3 Blood or sugar feeding in gravid females	20		
	2.4.4 Blood and sugar feeding after oviposition	21		
2.5	Regulation of host-seeking behaviour	21		
	2.5.1 The immediate phase of host-seeking inhibition	21		
	2.5.2 The delayed phase of host-seeking inhibition	22		
3	The olfactory pathway			
3.1	The peripheral olfactory system	24		
	3.1.1 Odour detection in the periphery	25		
	3.1.2 Odorant receptors (ORs)	26		
	3.1.3 Gustatory receptors (GRs)	27		
	3.1.4 Ionotropic receptors (IRs)	28		
3.2	The primary olfactory processing centre, the antennal lobe (AL)	29		
	3.2.1 Projection neurons (PNs)	30		
	3.2.2 Local interneurons (LNs)	30		
	3.2.3 Neuromodulatory extrinsic neurons	31		

4	Neuromodulation	33	
5	Neuropeptides	35	
5.1	.1 Origin and evolution		
5.2	2 Processing		
5.3	.3 G-Protein coupled receptors (GPCRs)		
5.4	Neuropeptide families in the regulation of feeding behaviour	40	
	5.4.1 Tachykinin (TK)	40	
	5.4.2 Short neuropeptide F (sNPF)	41	
	5.4.3 Allatostatin-A (AstA)	43	
	5.4.4 Neuropeptide F (NPF)	44	
	5.4.5 Insulin like peptides (ILPs)	46	
5.5	5.5 Neuropeptides in nutritional state-dependent regulation of the olfact		
	system	48	
5.6	Neuropeptides in blood-feeding and host-seeking behaviour in Ae.		
	aegypti	50	
6	Summary of results	52	
7	Conclusion and perspectives	56	
References			
Acknowledgements 79			

List of publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Peter Christ, Anna Reifenrath, Jörg Kahnt, Frank Hauser, Sharon R. Hill, Joachim Schachtner, Rickard Ignell. Feeding-induced changes in allatostatin-A and short neuropeptide F in the antennal lobes affect odormediated host seeking in the yellow fever mosquito, *Aedes aegypti*. submitted
- II Peter Christ, Sharon R. Hill, Joachim Schachtner, Frank Hauser, Rickard Ignell. Functional characterization of the dual allatostatin-A receptors in mosquitoes. *Peptides*, accepted with minor revisions
- III Peter Christ, Sharon R. Hill, Joachim Schachtner, Frank Hauser, Rickard Ignell. Functional characterization of mosquito sNPF receptors. manuscript

The contribution of Peter Christ to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Assisted in establishing the methodology for the semi-quantitative MALDI-TOF mass spectrometric analysis, carried out all the experiments and data analysis and wrote the manuscript with co-authors.
- II Carried out all the experiments and data analysis and wrote the manuscript with co-authors
- III Carried out all the experiments and data analysis and wrote the manuscript with co-authors

Abbreviations

AL	antennal lobe
AstA	allatostatin-A
AstAR	allatostatin-A receptor
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
cAMP	cyclic adenosine monophosphate
СНО	Chinese hamster oocyte
CNS	central nervous system
CO2	carbon dioxide
DAG	diacylglycerol
DLP	dorsolateral peptidergic neurons
ECL	extracellular loop
GDP	guanosine diphosphate
GPCR	G-protein coupled receptor
GR	gustatory receptor
GTP	guanosine triphosphate
HP	Aedes-Head Peptide
ILP	insulin-like peptide
IP3	inositol triphosphate
IPC	insulin-producing cell
IR	ionotropic receptor
LN	local interneuron
NPF	neuropeptide F
OBP	odorant-binding protein
OR	odorant receptor
OSN	olfactory sensory neuron
PN	projection neuron

1 Introduction

The aim of my PhD work was to explore how host-seeking behaviour of mosquitoes, mainly in *Ae. aegypti*, but also in *Cx. quinquefasciatus* and *An. coluzzii*, is regulated by neuropeptides. More specifically, I asked which neuropeptide families, expressed in the primary olfactory centre, the antennal lobe, of *Ae. aegypti*, are involved in the state dependent regulation of the odour-mediated host-seeking behaviour. Subsequently, I aimed to characterize the cognate receptors of these neuropeptide families in *Ae. aegypti*, *Cx. quinquefasciatus* and *An. coluzzii*, in terms of receptor conservation, function and regulation, following blood feeding.

In this thesis, I provide the background required for the understanding and discussion of my research in the neuropeptidergic regulation of host-seeking in vector mosquitoes. The first part of this thesis provides information about the biology of mosquitoes and their socio-economic implications. Mosquitoes have adapted a life style in which they feed on the blood of other animals for reproduction (Clements, 1992). This is a global problem, since mosquitoes may transmit harmful diseases during blood feeding (WHO, 2015a). In fact, more than half of the human population is at risk to be infected by a mosquito-borne disease, which leads to several million deaths and hundreds of millions of cases of infections every year (WHO, 2015a).

I further outline that which is known about the odour-mediated host-seeking behaviour and its regulation, in mosquitoes. Blood feeding is an integral part of the gonotrophic cycle of female anopheline and culicine mosquitoes, and a successful blood meal leads to a state dependent inhibition of further hostseeking until the gonotrophic cycle resets after oviposition (Klowden, 1990).

Host-seeking relies predominantly on olfactory cues (Clements, 1999; Takken & Knols, 1999; Montell & Zwiebel, 2016), and I provide a short background on the structure and function of the olfactory system, from odour detection at the peripheral level to the integration and modulation in the primary olfactory processing centre, the antennal lobe.

To address the regulation of odour mediated behaviour, I will present that which is known about the neuromodulation of sensory systems, specifically of the olfactory system, and introduce neuropeptides as a large and versatile class of neuromodulatory substances. In this chapter, I also present important neuropeptide families and how they are involved in the nutritional state dependent regulation of feeding behaviour in other insects, focusing on the model organism *D. melanogaster*, where substantial knowledge is available.

The limited information about the neuropeptidergic regulation of hostseeking behaviour in *Ae. aegypti* is discussed. Finally, I will summarize the results of my work, give a general conclusion about the findings and present future perspectives.

2 Biology of Mosquitoes

Mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) encompass approximately 3,500 species that are divided into three subfamilies, the Toxorhynchitinae, Anophelinae and Culicinae (Clements, 1992; Harbach, 2013). While Anopheline and Culicine mosquito species have developed a parasitic lifestyle, in which females have to acquire blood as an essential protein source for egg development and reproduction (haematophagy) (Clements, 1992), mosquitoes from the subfamily Toxorhynchitinae and all male mosquitoes do not feed on blood (Stone, 2013; Lutz *et al.*, 2017). While most haematophagic mosquito species have adapted to feed on non-human hosts (zoophagic), several species have adapted to exclusively feed on humans (anthropophagic) or switch their feeding preference between animal and human hosts (opportunistic) (Takken & Verhulst, 2013). Host preference is mostly genetically determined, but factors like host abundance and the nutritional state of the mosquito can overcome innate host preference (Lyimo & Ferguson, 2009; Takken & Verhulst, 2013).

Whilst most mosquito species are considered to be merely nuisance pests of humans, approximately 100 species are vectors of pathogens, causing a number of perilous human diseases (Becker *et al.*, 2010). This thesis focuses on three mosquito species, *Ae. aegypti, Cx. quinquefasciatus* and *An. coluzzii,* with a focus on *Ae. aegypti.* All three species are vectors of important arthropod-borne diseases, which cause substantial loss of life, long-lasting disabilities, and heavy economic burdens on affected countries (WHO, 2015a).

2.1 Investigated mosquito species

2.1.1 Aedes aegypti

Aedes aegypti is a diurnal species, closely associated with humans and their habitation, which exhibits endophagic (indoor feeding) and endophilic (indoor resting) behaviour in its natural environment (Becker *et al.*, 2010). *Aedes aegypti* is highly anthropophilic, with blood meal analysis studies showing that more than 90 % of all blood meals are obtained from humans (Scott *et al.*, 2000; Ponlawat & Harrington, 2005; Scott & Takken, 2012), a preference also observed in laboratory populations (Geier *et al.*, 1996; Bernier *et al.*, 2002).

Field studies show that *Ae. aegypti* can take multiple blood meals within one reproductive cycle (Scott & Takken, 2012). Flight activity, as well as feeding on sugar and blood, peak in the early and late photophase but occur throughout the photophase, albeit at a lower frequency (Jones, 1981; Yee & Foster, 1992). All of these behaviours increase the probability of mosquitoborne disease transmission, contributing to the significance of *Ae. aegypti* as a disease vector.

Aedes aegypti is a vector of a number of viral diseases, including dengue fever, yellow fever, Chikungunya, and Zika (WHO, 2015a). In 2013, an estimated 390 million dengue infections occurred, which manifested clinically in 96 million cases, of which 500,000 were severe cases leading to approximately 20,000 deaths (Bhatt *et al.*, 2013). In the same year, approximately 130,000 cases of yellow fever were reported, causing 78,000 deaths (Garske *et al.*, 2014). The Zika virus received little attention in the medical literature until it recently arrived in Brazil, where between 440,000 and 1,300,000 cases were reported in 2015 (WHO, 2015b). Zika can cause Guillain-Barré syndrome in adults and microcephaly in new-borns whose mothers were infected during pregnancy (Russo *et al.*, 2017). Today, safe and effective vaccines exist only for yellow fever (Barrett, 2017). However, the success of this vaccine has been limited by the lack of sufficient vaccination coverage, as witnessed by recent outbreaks in Angola in 2015 (WHO, 2016a) and in Brazil in 2017 (WHO, 2017).

Due to its significance as a disease vector, this mosquito's host-seeking behaviour, and the regulation of that behaviour, have been studied in some details (Judson, 1967; Klowden & Lea, 1979a; b; Clements, 1999), laying the groundwork for in-depth functional studies, such as those performed in this thesis.

2.1.2 Anopheles coluzzii

Anopheles coluzzii (formerly Anopheles gambiae molecular M form) is a species within the An. gambiae species complex, which consists of eight morphologically identical species (Coetzee et al., 2013). The M (Mopti) form, together with the Savannah (S) form, were previously considered two molecular forms of An. gambiae sensu stricto (Coetzee et al., 2013). This change in nomenclature is slowly being integrated into the research literature. In this thesis, I will use An. coluzzii to refer to the former An. gambiae molecular M form, albeit the initial reports were published with reference to An. gambiae.

In contrast to most other species within the *An. gambiae* complex, *An. coluzzii* is highly anthropophilic (Takken & Knols, 1999; Besansky *et al.*, 2004; Scott & Takken, 2012). This preference for human hosts is also linked to an endophilic and endophagic adaptation (Besansky *et al.*, 2004; Scott & Takken, 2012). *Anopheles coluzzii* is nocturnally active; flight activity and sugar- and blood-feeding are observed almost exclusively during the scotophase (Jones & Gubbins, 1978; Gary & Foster, 2006).

The anthropophilic behaviour of An. coluzzii and its high susceptibility for parasitic infection, makes it one of the most important vectors of malaria within the An. gambiae species complex (Lyimo & Ferguson, 2009). Malaria is caused by human protozoan *Plasmodium* parasites, predominantly *P*. falciparum and P. vivax (Tuteja, 2007), and is one of the greatest disease burdens of tropical and sub-tropical regions (WHO, 2016b). In 2015, 212 million new cases were reported, causing 429 000 deaths (WHO, 2016b). The malaria burden is carried primarily by sub-Saharan African regions, which accounts for 90 % of all cases (WHO, 2016b). Despite a long history of attempts, no effective vaccine has so far been developed (Matuschewski, 2017). Malaria prevention drugs exist, which, however, are expensive and lose efficiency through development of drug resistance of the parasite (WHO, 2016b). The current measure of mosquito control includes insecticide-treated nets and indoor residual spraying, which have proved to be effective in reducing the disease transmission. The progress in disease control, however, is threatened by emerging resistance to insecticides and development of avoidance behaviour by the mosquitoes (WHO, 2016b).

As for *Ae. aegypti*, detailed information is available about the host-seeking behaviour and its regulation in *An. coluzzii*, facilitating comparison between the species (Klowden & Briegel, 1994; Takken *et al.*, 2001).

2.1.3 Culex quinquefasciatus

In contrast to *Ae. aegypti* and *An. coluzzii, Culex quinquefasciatus* is not strictly anthropophilic, but may feed on a variety of host species depending on geographical and seasonal variation in host choice (Lyimo & Ferguson, 2009; Farajollahi *et al.*, 2011). Host preference in *Cx. quinquefasciatus* differs between populations; in some regions, *Cx. quinquefasciatus* feeds predominantly on humans, while in others, birds are the preferred hosts (Farajollahi *et al.*, 2011; Takken & Verhulst, 2013). Moreover, host preference can change in response to environmental factors, e.g., during bird migrations, making *Cx. quinquefasciatus* an important bridge vector for otherwise primarily avian pathogens (Kilpatrick *et al.*, 2006; Hamer *et al.*, 2008; Farajollahi *et al.*, 2011). *Culex quinquefasciatus* is active primarily at night and also shows a strong activity peak at dusk and dawn (Jones & Gubbins, 1979; Yee & Foster, 1992). Feeding behaviour is mostly endophagic and endophilic, but female mosquitoes have been observed biting humans outdoor as well (Subra, 1981; Becker *et al.*, 2010).

Culex quinquefasciatus is the vector of human lymphatic filariasis, caused by the parasitic nematode *Wuchereria bancrofti*, which in chronic cases leads to elephantiasis (Turell, 2012). Lymphatic filariasis currently threatens almost a billion people living in endemic areas. The disease is not fatal but can lead to profound disfigurement (Turell, 2012). Medical treatment is limited to largescale preventive chemotherapy to eliminate the disease in affected areas. This mosquito is also a vector of the viral disease West Nile Fever (Turell, 2012). West Nile Fever is caused by an arbovirus with an enzootic cycle between birds and mosquitoes, which can also be transmitted to humans and domestic animals (Kramer *et al.*, 2008). Although approximately 80% of infections are asymptomatic, in one fifth of cases the disease takes a severe debilitating and often encephalitic course (WHO, 2011).

2.2 Odour-mediated behaviours of mosquitoes

The behaviour of mosquitoes and other animals ultimately evolves around two major drives: survival and reproduction. A female mosquito can reproduce several times during its adult life and each time goes through a series of stereotypic behaviours, which collectively constitute the gonotrophic cycle (Klowden, 1990; Klowden & Briegel, 1994). This gonotrophic cycle includes host-seeking, blood feeding and digestion, ovarian development, oviposition site search and the laying of mature eggs (Klowden, 1990; Clements, 1999). All of these behaviours are dependent on sensory systems to detect relevant information from the environment (Montell & Zwiebel, 2016). Of the sensory

systems available, olfaction is considered the most important system in regulating the behaviours of most mosquito species (Clements, 1999; Takken & Knols, 1999; Montell & Zwiebel, 2016). Here, emphasis is placed on odourmediated feeding behaviours, due to their significance for the understanding of this thesis.

2.3 Odour-mediated feeding behaviours

2.3.1 Sugar seeking

Plant sugars are the main food source for maintaining energy reserves during the adult stage of male mosquitoes and, to some extent, of females (Foster, 1995; Müller & Schlein, 2005). Plants release a complex mixture of volatiles (Nyasembe & Torto, 2014), and a variety of these compounds have been shown to elicit responses in the antennae in *Ae. aegypti* (Jhumur *et al.*, 2007, 2008), *An. coluzzii* (Nyasembe *et al.*, 2012) and *Cx. quinquefasciatus* (Jhumur *et al.*, 2007, 2008). Floral cues are used by the mosquito to identify and discriminate between plant species, and mosquito species often show a clear behavioural preference for specific plants over others (Jhumur *et al.*, 2006; Gouagna *et al.*, 2010; Müller *et al.*, 2010; Otienoburu *et al.*, 2012; Nikbakhtzadeh *et al.*, 2014; von Oppen *et al.*, 2015; Yu *et al.*, 2015). This preference seems to be attributed to a small subset of compounds, as shown in studies using artificial odour blends (Nyasembe *et al.*, 2012; Otienoburu *et al.*, 2015).

2.3.2 Blood seeking

Olfactory cues play a major role in host detection and selection, as well as discrimination between different host species and between individuals of the same host species (Takken & Knols, 1999; Zwiebel & Takken, 2004; Cardé, 2015; Montell & Zwiebel, 2016). All three species are highly attracted to odours, e.g., collected from human skin (Geier & Boeckh, 1999; Takken & Knols, 1999; Pates *et al.*, 2001). Humans, the preferred host for *Ae. aegypti*, *An. coluzzii* and for some populations of *Cx. quinquefasciatus* emit more than 300-400 volatile compounds (Bernier & Kline, 2000). Several of these compounds have been found to be detected by, and to elicit an attractive response in these mosquito species. Examples of these include L-lactic acid, 1-octen-3-ol, ammonia, and carbon dioxide (Geier *et al.*, 1996; Bernier *et al.*, 2002, 2007; Dekker, 2005; Majeed *et al.*, 2017). It is worth mentioning that

most compounds are not active alone, but a blend with the right composition is necessary to elicit a response (Bernier *et al.*, 2007; Majeed *et al.*, 2017).

2.4 Mosquito feeding behaviour within the gonotrophic cycle

Animal behaviour is not static, but must be able to adapt to rapidly changing conditions. This does not only include external, but also internal changes (Bargmann & Marder, 2013; Gadenne *et al.*, 2016). For mosquitoes, the behaviour changes during the gonotrophic cycle in response to factors like age, nutritional estate and the development of ovaries (Clements, 1992, 1999). Most salient are the changes in sugar and blood feeding, which are limited to certain times within the gonotrophic cycle and are dependent on the internal state of the mosquito.

2.4.1 Sugar feeding in the early imago

Nectar from plants is the main sugar source for mosquitoes (Foster, 1995), and *Ae. aegypti, Cx. quinquefasciatus* and *An. coluzzii* have been regularly reported feeding on floral and extra-floral nectaries (Müller & Schlein, 2005). Sugar obtained from these resources is an important and readily accessible energy resource and is used to maintain the energy balance of the mosquito, but sugar alone is not sufficient for egg development. Nevertheless, sugar feeding has been shown to increase the survival and fecundity of mosquitoes (Nayar & Sauerman, 1975; Magnarelli, 1978; Straif & Beier, 1996; Manda *et al.*, 2007). Sugar is digested rapidly and can be directly utilized for flight activity (Nayar & Sauerman, 1971; Briegel *et al.*, 2001). In addition, sugar may be transformed by the mosquito into glycogen and triglycerides and stored as energy reserves (van Handel, 1965; Foster, 1995; Naksathit *et al.*, 1999b).

Sugar feeding is observed throughout the gonotrophic cycle, but is of greater importance during the first days of the adult stage (Foster, 1995; Clements, 1999; Foster & Takken, 2004). During this time, the previtellogenic phase of ovarian development takes place, which requires the availability of a sufficient amount of stored nutrients (Clements, 1992). Moreover, for freshly emerged mosquitoes, sugar is the only energy resource, as their blood feeding capacity is not yet developed (Davis, 1984b; Clements, 1999), which, under laboratory conditions, is also reflected by teneral mosquitoes being more attracted to nectar-related odours than to host cues (Foster & Takken, 2004).

For adult *Ae. aegypti* and *An. coluzzii* that are unusually small as a result of limited availability of nutrients during larval development (Takken *et al.*, 1998) an initial sugar meal is necessary to initiate ovarian development (Briegel & Horler, 1993; Takken *et al.*, 1998; Gary & Foster, 2001). However, even large mosquitoes feed on sugar within the first days after adult emergence, which facilitates the subsequent host-seeking behaviour, as observed in *An. coluzzii* (Gary & Foster, 2006) and in some *Aedes* and *Culex* species (Hancock & Foster, 1997; Takken *et al.*, 1998; Briegel *et al.*, 2001; Foster & Takken, 2004; Fernandes & Briegel, 2005).

2.4.2 Blood feeding behaviour in non-gravid females

Blood is a rich source of protein, which is required by haematophagous mosquitoes for ovarian development and egg production. Substantial amounts of nutrients from the first blood meal are sequestered in the ovaries and used for vitellogenesis (Briegel, 1990a; Hancock & Foster, 1993). This is independent of the energy reserves of the mosquito, indicating that the importance of a blood meal primarily lies in the production of eggs (Hancock & Foster, 1993; Naksathit *et al.*, 1999a). In large-sized *Ae. aegypti* and *An. coluzzii* mosquitoes, with access to sugar as an additional energy resource, one blood meal is sufficient to complete a reproductive cycle (Naksathit *et al.*, 1999b; Takken *et al.*, 2001). Nevertheless, blood may also be utilized by the mosquito to fill their energy stores (van Handel, 1965; Clements, 1992; Foster, 1995). Energetically, blood and sugar are interchangeable, but blood digestion is metabolically less efficient than sugar feeding (van Handel, 1965; Clements, 1992; Foster, 1995).

Mosquitoes gradually develop the capacity to host-seek and blood-feed, which in *Ae. aegypti* occurs within 4 days of adult emergence (Davis, 1984a; Clements, 1999). In *An. coluzzii*, blood feeding starts at approximately 40 h post-adult emergence (Takken *et al.*, 1998; Fernandes & Briegel, 2005), and in *Cx. quinquefasciatus* it starts between 28 and 60 h post-emergence (Subra, 1981). After developing the competence to take their first blood meal, the mosquitoes show a stronger preference for host cues compared to plant cues (Foster, 1995; Foster & Takken, 2004).

A complete blood meal leads to long-lasting and extensive changes in the physiology of the mosquitoes, as well as in their feeding and host-seeking behaviour. Nutrients from the blood meal are utilized for the continuation of ovarian and egg development, which requires approximately 3-4 days in *Ae. aegypti*, *An. coluzzii* and *Cx quinquefasciatus* (Subra, 1981; Klowden & Blackmer, 1987; Takken *et al.*, 2001). Several laboratory studies of *Ae. aegypti*

have shown that feeding to completion on blood abolishes further response to host cues until the eggs are deposited (Judson, 1967; Klowden & Lea, 1979b; Takken *et al.*, 2001; Liesch *et al.*, 2013). Host-seeking behaviour can resume, however, if insufficient amounts of blood are consumed – that is, after a partial blood meal (Klowden & Lea, 1979b). The response to host cues in *An. coluzzii* is inhibited for 40 h post-blood meal and then gradually returns until it is completely restored at the time of the onset of oviposition site-selection behaviour (Takken *et al.*, 2001). In undernourished *An. coluzzii*, an initial blood meal is only sufficient to complete previtellogenic ovarian development, in which case, a second blood meal is required to complete a full gonotrophic cycle (Feinsod & Spielman, 1980; Briegel, 1990b; Takken *et al.*, 1998).

Not only blood feeding, but also sugar feeding is inhibited following a complete blood meal (Gary & Foster, 2006). During early ovarian development, *An. coluzzii* rarely feeds on sugar (Vargo & Foster, 1982, 1984; Gary & Foster, 2006), and in *Ae. aegypti*, attraction to floral compounds and sugar-feeding during ovarian development has seldom been observed in wild animals (Vargo & Foster, 1982, 1984). In contrast, in sugar-starved *Ae. aegypti* under laboratory conditions, host-seeking is restored already at the semi-gravid state (48 h post-blood meal), which indicates that the mosquito needs to replenish its energy resources at this stage of the gonotrophic cycle (Klowden, 1986).

In summary, feeding behaviours in mosquitoes are inhibited after a successful blood meal, and returns over time in a species-specific manner. While in *Ae. aegypti* only sugar feeding returns, *An. coluzzii* has been observed host-seeking already in pre-gravid conditions.

2.4.3 Blood or sugar feeding in gravid females

Generally, gravid mosquitoes benefit from taking another meal of sugar or blood before oviposition behaviour is initiated (Klowden, 1986; Takken *et al.*, 2001; Styer *et al.*, 2007). The resource chosen appears to be dependent on the availability of food sources in the environment. In *Ae. aegypti*, host-seeking behaviour of gravid mosquitoes remains inhibited until eggs are laid (Judson, 1967; Klowden & Lea, 1979b; Takken *et al.*, 2001; Liesch *et al.*, 2013), but only if sugar as a food source is provided (Klowden, 1986). In contrast, in the field, several studies on *Aedes* species indicate that sugar feeding is considerably less frequent in the presence of humans (Edman *et al.*, 1992; van Handel *et al.*, 1994; Martinez-Ibarra *et al.*, 1997; Spencer *et al.*, 2005), suggesting that a second blood meal is commonly taken to replenish energy resources (Scott & Takken, 2012). In the absence of humans, however, the sugar-feeding rate increases to 74 % (van Handel *et al.*, 1994).

Similar observations have been made in *An. coluzzii* (Klowden & Briegel, 1994; Takken *et al.*, 2001; Gary & Foster, 2006). This indicates that experiments under laboratory conditions should to be conducted while carefully controlling the feeding regime

2.4.4 Blood and sugar feeding after oviposition

After egg-laying, the gonotrophic cycle resets, and mosquitoes commonly take a sugar meal to replenish their energy resources (Gary & Foster, 2006). In *An. coluzzii*, the response to host cues is restored before oviposition (Takken *et al.*, 2001). In *Ae. aegypti*, on the other hand, the acceptance of a blood meal returns gradually, with only 10 % of mosquitoes taking a blood meal directly after oviposition, increasing to 100 % at ca. 24-46 h after oviposition (Chadee, 2012). In addition, *Ae. aegypti* and *An. coluzzii* regain behavioural responsiveness towards host cues during this time (Judson, 1967; Klowden & Blackmer, 1987; Takken *et al.*, 2001).

2.5 Regulation of host-seeking behaviour

As discussed above, a successful, complete blood meal leads to significant changes in the physiology and behaviour of mosquitoes, including a transient inhibition of the odour-mediated host-seeking behaviour. The mechanism underlying this behavioural inhibition has been studied in some detail in *Ae. aegypti*, in which it has been divided into two phases: an immediate inhibition that starts directly after a blood meal and lasts for up to 24 hours post-blood feeding, followed by a delayed inhibition that continues until the onset of pre-oviposition behaviour, approximately 72 hours post-blood meal (Clements, 1999).

2.5.1 The immediate phase of host-seeking inhibition

A complete blood meal results in a large distension of the abdomen of the mosquito. In a series of studies, Klowden and Lea showed that this distension triggers the immediate inhibition of host-seeking behaviour in *Ae. aegypti*. By comparing different blood-meal sizes, they were able to show that only large volumes of blood $(2.5 - 4 \mu l)$ trigger immediate host-seeking inhibition (Klowden & Lea, 1978). A large blood meal can be simulated by inflating the abdomen with saline or air (Klowden & Lea, 1979a). Preventing movement of

different parts of the abdomen using melted wax indicates that distension of the anterior region is responsible for the observed inhibition (Klowden & Lea, 1979a). Based on these results, the authors reasoned that the immediate inhibition is triggered by stretch-sensitive neurons in the anterior half of the abdomen (Klowden & Lea, 1979a). In addition, nerve cord transection at the 2nd abdominal ganglion prevented the immediate host-seeking inhibition, suggesting that the stretch receptors are situated in the thorax above the transection (Klowden & Lea, 1979a; Klowden, 1990).Alternatively, the abdominal distension could trigger the release of a neuromodulatory substance via an unknown pathway (Klowden & Lea, 1978, 1979a; Klowden, 1990). Although it has been studied in detail only in *Ae. aegypti*, (Klowden & Lea, 1978, 1979a; Clements, 1999), immediate inhibition of host-seeking behaviour by abdominal distension has also been suggested for other *Aedes* and *Anopheles* species (Klowden & Briegel, 1994).

2.5.2 The delayed phase of host-seeking inhibition

Two observations suggest that the delayed inhibition of host-seeking behaviour is regulated independently of the immediate phase of inhibition (Klowden & Lea, 1979b). First, in fully gorged mosquitoes, inhibition of host-seeking persists after abdominal distension ends (Klowden & Lea, 1979b; Klowden, 1990). Second, female *Ae. aegypti* develop unresponsiveness to host cues only after 24 h, when digesting a small volume of blood, under the condition that egg development is triggered (Klowden & Lea, 1979b; Klowden, 1990). The observation that lymph-transfusion from a blood-fed to a non-blood-fed animal mosquito leads to inhibition of host-seeking when tested 2 h post-transfusion, suggests that a haemolymph-borne factor is responsible for regulating the delayed inhibition (Klowden & Lea, 1979b).

These authors also showed that the ovaries are important for the delayed host-seeking inhibition, as ovariectomy in *Ae. aegypti* before a blood meal prevents the delayed inhibition. In addition, transplantation of fat bodies from females 24 h post-blood feeding into non-blood-fed females leads to a blood-fed phenotype 24 h later, suggesting that the fat body is the source of the haemolymph-borne factor (Klowden *et al.*, 1987; Klowden, 1990). Interestingly, fat bodies from blood-fed *Cx. quinquefasciatus* also lead to a reduction of host-seeking behaviour in *Ae. aegypti* (Klowden *et al.*, 1987).

So far there is only limited information about the identity of this humoral factor (Clements, 1999). Brown *et. al.* (1994) found the neuropeptide *Aedes*-Head-peptide I (HP) to be a candidate humoral factor, showing that the titre of the peptide increased after a successful blood meal, and demonstrating that

peptide injection led to inhibition of host-seeking behaviour. However, later studies were unable to detect this neuropeptide in female *Ae. aegypti*; see chapter 5.6 for further discussion on this. Humoral inhibition of host-seeking behaviour is terminated with oviposition. This termination seems to be triggered by a nervous pathway, originating from the ovaries (Klowden, 1981).

3 The olfactory pathway

As stated above, mosquitoes rely heavily on their sense of smell to locate and select food sources (Clements, 1999; Takken & Knols, 1999; Zwiebel & Takken, 2004; Montell & Zwiebel, 2016). Information in the form of a bouquet of odour molecules has to be detected, processed, and integrated with the animal's physiological state and experience before it is ultimately translated into an appropriate behavioural output (Martin et al., 2011; Wicher, 2015; Gadenne et al., 2016). The olfactory organs of mosquitoes are the antennae, maxillary palps, and labella (Keil, 1999). These organs are covered with various forms of cuticular hair-like structures called sensilla that house the olfactory sensory neurons (OSNs). From their cell bodies located at the base of each sensillum, these neurons extend dendrites responsible for the detection of odour molecules into the lymph within the cuticular bristle. Their axons project to the primary olfactory processing centre, the antennal lobe (AL), where they synapse onto the dendrites of projection neurons (PNs). This neuropil is organised into spherical structures called glomeruli, which are interconnected via local interneurons (LNs). Initial sensory integration and processing occurs in the AL, mediated by the LNs. The PNs relay the information to higher brain centres where it is integrated with other sensory inputs and the experience of the animal and ultimately translated into a behavioural output (Martin *et al.*, 2011).

3.1 The peripheral olfactory system

The first step in insect olfaction is odour detection, which takes place in the olfactory sensilla, which make up 90 % of the sensilla on the antennae (McIver, 1978, 1982). Olfactory sensilla are divided into two distinct types – single-walled and double-walled – but may be further subdivided into different morphological classes (Keil, 1999). In mosquitoes, there are three

morphological classes of olfactory sensilla, the single-walled sensilla trichodea and the double-walled grooved pegs and sensilla coeloconica (McIver, 1982; Pitts et al., 2004; Hill et al., 2009). This last class, however, is only present in anophelines (McIver, 1982). All olfactory sensilla have numerous pores (sensilla trichodea) or spokes (sensilla coeloconica and grooved pegs), through which environmental odours reach the interior of the sensillum. The interior of the sensillum contains the sensillar lymph and the dendrites of one or more bipolar OSNs, expressing olfactory receptors (Keil, 1982, 1999; Steinbrecht, 1997; Stengl et al., 1999). The axons of the OSNs are bundled in the antennal nerve and project into the AL (Anton & Homberg, 1999; Schachtner et al., 2005). In addition to the OSN cell bodies, the base of each olfactory sensillum houses three accessory cells, the thecogen, trichogen and tormogen cells. These cells are involved in establishing an adequate ionic environment within the sensillum and expressing auxiliary proteins, such as the odorant-binding proteins (OBPs), which play a role in the signal transduction (Keil, 1999; Stengl et al., 1999; Leal, 2013).

3.1.1 Odour detection in the periphery

The odour detection in the periphery must be rapid and accurate, and is realised by the auxiliary proteins in the sensillum environment and the properties of the OSNs. The passage of odorants through the sensillar lymph is an initial filtering step and is believed to be mediated by OBPs that form a complex with the odorants and shuttle these generally hydrophobic molecules through the aqueous sensillar lymph (Leal, 2013). Recent studies, however, indicate that OBPs are not always essential for odour detection and can have other functions in the sensillum, such as early gain control (Leal, 2013; Larter *et al.*, 2016). In support of this, many studies have shown that specificity of the odorant detection generally is mediated by olfactory receptors that bind the odorants (Dahanukar *et al.*, 2005; Hallem & Carlson, 2006; Carey *et al.*, 2010).

Three major classes of olfactory receptors have been described to date (Guidobaldi *et al.*, 2014; Wicher, 2015), and will be discussed here in more detail, due to their importance in the olfactory pathway. The olfactory receptors include the large class of odorant receptors (ORs), their closely related homologues, the gustatory receptors (GRs), and the ionotropic receptors (IRs) (Kaupp, 2010; Guidobaldi *et al.*, 2014; Wicher, 2015).

3.1.2 Odorant receptors (ORs)

The insect ORs contain seven transmembrane domains, but are distinct from other seven-transmembrane-domain receptor classes such as the G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs) or the vertebrate ORs (Nakagawa & Vosshall, 2009; Silbering & Benton, 2010). Characteristic for insect ORs is their inverted topology relative to other GPCRs, with the N-terminus located inside and the C-terminus outside of the cell (Benton, 2006; Lundin *et al.*, 2007). Unique ORs are co-expressed with a ubiquitous co-receptor, named "Orco" (Larsson *et al.*, 2004; Pitts *et al.*, 2004; Vosshall & Hansson, 2011), which is required for the localization of the ORs in the dendritic membrane and their subsequent function (Larsson *et al.*, 2004; Benton, 2006; Wicher *et al.*, 2008; Mukunda *et al.*, 2014). The OR and Orco together form a heterodimeric complex, which can act as an ionotropic channel and/or a metabotropic receptor (acting through a second messenger cascade) (Sato *et al.*, 2008; Wicher *et al.*, 2008; Deng *et al.*, 2011; Wicher, 2013). A concrete model for OR-Orco function is, however, still debated (Stengl & Funk, 2013; Wicher, 2013, 2015).

According to the convention, OSNs are generally said to express only one type of tuning OR together with Orco (Galizia & Sachse, 2010; Sachse & Krieger, 2011). However, exceptions to this rule have been reported. One example of this is described in *An. coluzzii*, where co-expression of several OR genes has been observed (Karner *et al.*, 2015).

Insect tuning ORs are highly diverse between species in number, and sequence diversity (Suh *et al.*, 2014). In *Ae. aegypti* there are 129 annotated ORs, with 100-110 ORs demonstrated to be expressed in the adult female antennae (Bohbot *et al.*, 2007; Bohbot & Pitts, 2015; Matthews *et al.*, 2016), while in *Cx. quinquefasciatus* 180 ORs have been annotated, of which 96 are expressed in adult female antennae (Arensburger *et al.*, 2010; Taparia *et al.*, 2017). In contrast, in *An. coluzzii* only 58 genes are expressed in the antennae, out of a total number of 79 genes (Hill *et al.*, 2002; Rinker *et al.*, 2013). The different numbers of ORs expressed in mosquito species is a result of several species-specific OR expansions (Bohbot *et al.*, 2007; Arensburger *et al.*, 2010). Large expansion of the OR gene repertoire appears to be characteristic of culicine mosquitoes, potentially reflecting culicine olfactory behavioural diversity, seen e.g. as a reflection of the opportunistic feeding behaviour of *Cx. quinquefasciatus* (Arensburger *et al.*, 2010).

While early studies on ORs indicated that many ORs responded to a broad range of odours, recent studies indicate that the majority of the ORs are narrowly tuned, with a high sensitivity to a single compound or a narrow group of compounds (Suh *et al.*, 2014; Andersson *et al.*, 2015; Bohbot & Pitts, 2015). Several studies have also shown that the ORs in specific insect species are

most often found to be tuned to compounds that are ecologically relevant for the species (Hallem & Carlson, 2006; Carey et al., 2010; de Fouchier et al., 2017). For example, already in pioneering OR deorphanization studies, it was shown that the odour space covered by narrowly tuned receptors in D. melanogaster is more focused on esters when compared to that of An. coluzzii, which allocated greater relative coverage to aromatics (Hallem & Carlson, 2006; Carey et al., 2010). This observation was hypothesised to be an adaptation of these species to detect and discriminate between relevant odours, used for example for food seeking. Esters are common compounds of fruits, while several aromatics are compounds of human sweat (Carey et al., 2010). Recent studies also suggest a model in which the repertoire of narrowly tuned ORs in each species have evolved to be highly specific for odorants of ecological importance for this insect (Andersson et al., 2015). For example, a recent investigation in the moth Spodoptera littoralis indicated that the OR repertoire of this herbivore is generally tuned towards odour classes found in plants, and that several specialist ORs are highly sensitive to specific plantrelated volatiles (de Fouchier et al., 2017). In addition, several studies in mosquitoes have indicated the existence of narrowly tuned ORs for compounds that mark oviposition sites or host animals (Guidobaldi et al., 2014). The rapid evolution of narrowly tuned ORs has been demonstrated in a study comparing an anthropophilic urban strain of Ae. aegypti with a zoophilic forest strain of this species (McBride et al., 2014). The authors showed differential expression and sensitivity of the narrowly tuned OR4 in the two sub-species. This OR responds to the compound sulcatone, which is enriched in the human headspace compared to a variety of animals (McBride et al., 2014). The tuning of the ORs to behaviourally relevant compounds, together with their rapid evolution, show two key features of the olfactory system, which needs to be very specific to fitness-related cues, but on the other hand adaptable to changes of environmental conditions.

3.1.3 Gustatory receptors (GRs)

The GRs have a common lineage to the ORs, but represent a more basal group of insect chemoreceptors, which are generally devoted to the sense of taste, meaning contact chemoreception (Hill *et al.*, 2002). Nevertheless, in insects, the detection of the important mosquito host cue, carbon dioxide (CO_2), is realized by highly conserved members of the GR family, which reflects the importance of this ubiquitous sensory cue that plays a role in multiple insect behaviours (Guerenstein & Hildebrand, 2008). In mosquitoes, the CO_2 -sensitive GRs are expressed in the non-OR-expressing OSN found in capitate

peg sensilla on the maxillary palps (Lu *et al.*, 2007; Robertson & Kent, 2009; Erdelyan *et al.*, 2012). These CO₂-sensitive OSNs house a trio of GRs (*An. coluzzii*: GR22, GR23 and GR24 and *Ae. aegypti* GR1, GR2 and GR3; Lu *et al.*, 2007; Erdelyan *et al.*, 2012). It was shown for *Ae. aegypti* and *D. melanogaster* that only two GRs (*Ae. aegypti* GR1 and GR3 and their orthologues) are necessary for CO₂ detection (Jones *et al.*, 2007; Erdelyan *et al.*, 2012).

3.1.4 Ionotropic receptors (IRs)

The IRs are chemoreceptors derived from a different superfamily, the ionotropic glutamate receptors, which are considered more ancestral compared to the ORs, and only a subset of the IRs, the so called antennal IRs, are involved in odour detection (Rytz *et al.*, 2013). In early anatomical and functional studies in *D. melanogaster*, OSNs in *sensilla coeloconica* were found to be devoid of ORs or GRs (Yao *et al.*, 2005; Vosshall & Stocker, 2007). In 2009, Benton *et al.* suggested the IRs as the missing olfactory receptors expressed by those OSNs. Subsequently, Pitts *et al.* (2017) found *An. coluzzii* IRs to be expressed in OSNs of grooved peg sensilla. These sensilla are morphologically analogous to the *sensilla coeloconica* of *D. melanogaster* (Benton *et al.*, 2009).

Ionotropic receptors exhibit an overall topology resembling that of ionotropic glutamate receptors (Liu *et al.*, 2010; Rytz *et al.*, 2013). The aminoterminal and extracellular domains are the largest parts of the olfactory IRs and contain a distinct ligand-binding domain, while the membrane bound part of the receptor forms an ion channel domain (Rytz *et al.*, 2013). Unlike the ORs, which dimerize with the single co-receptor Orco, IRs share three highly conserved co-receptors. Functional studies have shown that the olfactory IRs may form a complex with one or more of these, functioning together as a ligand-gated ion channel (Croset *et al.*, 2010; Rytz *et al.*, 2013; Pitts *et al.*, 2017).

The number of total IRs expressed in mosquitoes, differs between species with 95 in *Ae. aegypti*, 69 in *Cx. quinquefasciatus*, and 46 in *An. coluzzii* (Croset *et al.*, 2010; Matthews *et al.*, 2016; Pitts *et al.*, 2017; Taparia *et al.*, 2017). Only a subset of these are however expressed on the antennae (antennal IRs). The number of antennal IRs in the culicines (29-30), is almost one third higher than in the anophelines (23) (Croset *et al.*, 2010; Matthews *et al.*, 2016; Pitts *et al.*, 2017; Taparia *et al.*, 2017). In contrast to the family of ORs, antennal IRs are conserved in insects, in both sequence and expression patterns (Croset *et al.*, 2010). Several antennal IRs described in *D. melanogaster*

respond to amine and carboxylic-acid odorants. A recent study in *An. coluzzii* deorphanized several IR complexes homologous to IRs previously described in *D. melanogaster*, finding responses to a narrow range of amines and carboxylic acids, supporting a functional conservation of those IR complexes in detecting these odour groups (Ai *et al.*, 2010; Abuin *et al.*, 2011; Silbering *et al.*, 2011; Hussain *et al.*, 2016; Pitts *et al.*, 2017). Interestingly, several of the identified compounds are found in human sweat (Bernier & Kline, 2000), suggesting that the *An. coluzzii* IRs are tuned towards these behaviourally relevant compounds (Pitts *et al.*, 2017).

3.2 The primary olfactory processing centre, the antennal lobe (AL)

The AL is the primary relay centre for olfactory information, where integration and processing occurs. The AL is innervated by the OSNs, which project into distinct spherical subunits of the AL called glomeruli. Detailed molecular and anatomical mapping of OSNs in D. melanogaster show that all OSNs expressing the same olfactory receptor converge into the same glomerulus (Vosshall et al., 2000; Couto et al., 2005). In other insects, including mosquitoes, this chemotopic organisation of olfactory information has been shown through tracing of functional distinct classes of OSNs into single glomeruli (Ghaninia et al., 2007; Ignell et al., 2010). Each glomerulus receives input from only one OSN type, typically representing one olfactory receptor, according to the one-OSN, one-receptor, one-glomerulus rule (Couto et al., 2005). The sizes, numbers, and positions of glomeruli, however, differ greatly between insect species, as revealed by three-dimensional reconstructions (Huetteroth & Schachtner, 2005; Ignell et al., 2005; Schachtner et al., 2005; Ghaninia et al., 2007; Nishikawa et al., 2008; Dreyer et al., 2010). For instance, 50 glomeruli are found in female and 49 in male Ae. aegypti (Ignell et al., 2005), whereas 60 and 61 glomeruli have been found in male and female ALs in An. coluzzii, respectively (Ghaninia et al., 2007). Within each glomerulus, the axons of the OSNs make synaptic connections with other neurons in the AL, the LNs and PNs, which are responsible for the processing of the incoming olfactory information.

The chemotopic organisation suggests a functional representation of odorants at the level of the AL (Hansson & Christensen, 1999; Vosshall *et al.*, 2000; Couto *et al.*, 2005). If only narrowly tuned OSNs would innervate each glomerulus, the chemotopic map would be a simple, unequivocal functional map. This is the case for several ecologically important odours such as pheromones (Kurtovic *et al.*, 2007; Ruta *et al.*, 2010; Dweck *et al.*, 2015),

important aversive odours (Stensmyr *et al.*, 2012; Ebrahim *et al.*, 2015), and CO_2 (Jones *et al.*, 2007; Kwon *et al.*, 2007) which appear to have dedicated pathways. However, most OSNs appear to be more broadly tuned, with individual compounds evoking activation in several OSNs in a concentration-dependent manner (Todd & Baker, 1999). As a result, more than one glomerulus can respond to the same odorant, with the pattern of activation being dependent on odorant concentration.

While the integration of olfactory information in the AL is realised by the wiring of the OSNs, the processing is performed by LNs and PNs, which receive synaptic input from OSNs within the glomeruli (Martin *et al.*, 2011). Local interneurons arborize in most if not all AL glomeruli and form synaptic output on OSNs or other LNs, and are mainly responsible for the olfactory information processing in the AL (Sachse & Krieger, 2011). Olfactory information processed in the glomeruli converges on uniglomerular or multiglomerular PNs, which transmit the pre-processed olfactory information towards higher brain centres (Anton & Homberg, 1999; Martin *et al.*, 2011). In addition, the AL is innervated by extrinsic neurons from other brain areas, which mostly express neuromodulatory substances (Anton & Homberg, 1999).

3.2.1 Projection neurons (PNs)

Projection neurons make synaptic contact with the OSNs and connect to higher brain centres (Galizia & Rössler, 2010; Kaupp, 2010). Two types of PNs are observed, receiving input from either one glomerulus (uniglomerular and mostly excitatory) or less commonly, several glomeruli (multiglomerular and mostly inhibitory) (Galizia & Rössler, 2010; Martin *et al.*, 2011). Within a single glomerulus, a large number of OSNs converge onto a small number of PNs (Grabe *et al.*, 2016). This convergence is an important step in the processing of olfactory information and has been shown to decrease noise and/or strengthen weak signals from OSNs (Galizia, 2014).

3.2.2 Local interneurons (LNs)

Local interneurons are morphologically diverse, with cell bodies located in a lateral, and in some insects also a ventral, cluster at the periphery of the AL (Ignell *et al.*, 2005; Schachtner *et al.*, 2005). Most LNs arborize in many, if not all, glomeruli with variable branching within specific glomeruli (panglomerular LNs) (Chou *et al.*, 2010; Reisenman *et al.*, 2011). In addition, a subpopulation of LNs is generally also found to arborize in a small number of specific glomeruli (oligoglomerular LNs) (Chou *et al.*, 2010; Reisenman *et al.*, 2010; Re 2011). So far, in mosquitoes only LNs with homogenous arborisations in most, if not all, AL glomeruli have been described (Ignell *et al.*, 2005).

In insects, most LNs express γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA), although glutaminergic LNs also exist, making interglomerular interaction inhibitory (Homberg & Müller, 1999; Liu & Wilson, 2013). Note that in *D. melanogaster*, but so far not in any other insects, excitatory cholinergic LNs have also been found (Olsen et al., 2007; Shang et al., 2007). In addition, LNs have also been shown to co-express neuromodulatory neuropeptides along with the classical transmitters (Siju *et al.*, 2014; Lizbinski *et al.*, 2017). Typically, these neuromodulators are recruited during high neuronal activation and act on metabotropic receptors (Nusbaum *et al.*, 2017). A core function of LNs in the AL is the processing of the olfactory information through the lateral connection of glomeruli. This includes presynaptic gain control, global normalization, and control of response range (Martin *et al.*, 2011; Wilson, 2013; Galizia, 2014).

An additional role of the LNs is the integration of state-dependent information. Local interneurons have been described to express the receptors for several neuromodulatory substances, including biogenic amines and neuropeptides, which allows for comprehensive neuromodulation of the AL network (Dacks *et al.*, 2013; Rein *et al.*, 2013; Nusbaum *et al.*, 2017). For example, LNs can be recruited to modify signals according to the nutritional state of the animals and modify food-related odour responses in the state of satiety, while leaving other signals unaffected (Ignell *et al.*, 2009; Root *et al.*, 2011; Ko *et al.*, 2015).

3.2.3 Neuromodulatory extrinsic neurons

The AL is innervated by various extrinsic neurons from other brain areas with cell bodies generally outside of the AL, which can interact with the network of processes within the AL (Anton & Homberg, 1999; Schachtner *et al.*, 2005). Extrinsic neurons can vary greatly in morphology and location, and are often found to express neuromodulatory substances, such as biogenic amines (Homberg & Müller, 1999; Siju *et al.*, 2008; Rein *et al.*, 2013) and neuropeptides (Nässel, 2000; Siju *et al.*, 2014). A common characteristic of the extrinsic neurons are wide-reaching arborisations outside the AL (Anton & Homberg, 1999).

Immunohistochemical studies in *Ae. aegypti* have revealed a number of neuromodulatory extrinsic neurons with arborisations within the AL (Siju *et al.*, 2008, 2014). Siju *et al.* (2008) describes a serotonin-immunoreactive neuron, which has arborisations in higher brain centres and most if not all glomeruli in the AL. In addition, several extrinsic neurons have been found to

express neuropeptides (Siju *et al.*, 2014). An example of this is a group of four conserved neurons with cell bodies in the pars intercerebralis expressing the neuropeptide SIFamide (SIFa). These cells innervate the entire brain, including the AL, in a dense meshwork (Verleyen *et al.*, 2004; Heuer *et al.*, 2012; Siju *et al.*, 2014). The neuroanatomy of extrinsic neurons suggests that they might have functions as feed-back neurons from other brain areas to the AL or in the broad modulation of several brain areas, for example in the context of state-dependent modulation (Anton & Homberg, 1999; Martin *et al.*, 2011; Sengupta, 2013).

4 Neuromodulation

Modulation and plasticity of neuronal circuits is a key feature of animals, used to adapt their behaviour to a steadily changing environment (Gadenne *et al.*, 2016). Changes in behaviour can be triggered by external factors, but also in response to the internal state of the animal, e.g. in response to satiety or a change in mating status (Gadenne *et al.*, 2016; Kim *et al.*, 2017). Several examples of state-depended switches in olfactory-guided behaviours have been observed in insects. One example is the mosquito's loss of responsiveness to host-related odours following a blood meal, introduced in the previous chapters of this thesis. Another example is found in the African cotton leaf worm, *S. littoralis*, in which the response to feeding-related flower odours in females is downregulated upon mating, while the response to oviposition-site-related green-leaf odours is upregulated (Saveer *et al.*, 2012). A third and well-investigated example is the response to food-related odours depending on the nutritional state observed in several insects, but in its complexity studied primarily in *D. melanogaster* (Itskov & Ribeiro, 2013; Schoofs *et al.*, 2017).

How is a change of the internal state translated into a change in the behavioural output? These switches in behaviour can be achieved by neuromodulatory substances affecting the neuronal response of sensory systems, e.g. within the olfactory pathway (Wang, 2012; Su & Wang, 2014). For example, the nutritional state of an animal is measured by internal sensors, which may induce the release of, for example, broadly-released biogenic amines or neuropeptides acting as neurohormones (Itskov & Ribeiro, 2013; Kim *et al.*, 2017). An example of a neurohormone is the insulin-like peptide (ILP), which will be discussed in a later chapter in more detail (*5.4.5*). Neurohormones can directly affect neuronal activity, but more commonly, recruit other neuromodulators in local networks that act alongside the classical fast synaptic transmission (Bucher & Marder, 2013; Kim *et al.*, 2017). Typically, a high number of neuromodulatory substances can be found within these local networks (Lizbinski *et al.*, 2017). To give an example, in the AL of

Ae. aegypti and D. melanogaster, 10 or 7 different neuropeptide families are found, allowing for a broad modulation of the system (Carlsson et al., 2010; Siju et al., 2014). Neuromodulators can be released in a locally confined manner, e.g. by the LNs of the AL (Nässel, 2009). Here, the neuromodulator is released close to the synaptic cleft and acts either presynaptically or postsynaptically (or both), depending on the expression of the cognate receptor (Nässel, 2009). The neuromodulators, however, are not necessarily limited to a single synapse, but may reach receptors at neighbouring synapses (Nässel, 2009). Additionally, neuromodulators can be released in a paracrine fashion, sometimes called volume transmission, where the neuromodulator is released along the axon or from diffusely arborizing terminations (Nässel, 2009). In some cases the neuromodulator release is not even tied to the local network, but global levels of neuromodulators in the lymph may be detected by the local receptors (Nässel, 2009; Kim et al., 2017). An example for this is ILP, mentioned previously (Nässel & Broeck, 2016). In summary, modulation of local networks is sophisticated and very complex and we only now begin to understand their precise regulation.

5 Neuropeptides

Neuropeptides are diverse in structure and distribution, well conserved during evolution, and involved in a multitude of physiological processes and in the regulation of behaviour (Nässel, 2002; Nässel & Wegener, 2011;Grimmelikhuijzen & Hauser, 2012; Schoofs et al., 2017). Neuropeptides are produced by neurons or neurosecretory cells, and can therefore be specified as neuropeptides or neurohormones (Nässel, 2009). Some, but not all, neuropeptides can be expressed by multiple cell types in the nervous system or the endocrine system (Nässel & Winther, 2010; Wegener & Veenstra, 2015). Neuropeptides are encoded in the genome as larger precursor proteins, referred to as prepropeptides (Fricker, 2012). Prepropeptides are, upon translation, cut at specific cleavage sites and modified into mature neuropeptides (Fricker, 2012). In many cases, several neuropeptides are cleaved from one precursor (neuropeptide isoforms), and in these cases are classified as belonging to the same neuropeptide family (Nässel & Winther, 2010; Coast & Schooley, 2011). Neuropeptides belonging to one family are usually structurally related and possess a conserved motif at the C-terminus, which plays a role in the interaction between the neuropeptide and its corresponding receptor, generally of the GPCR family (Nässel & Winther, 2010). In invertebrates there is typically one receptor for each neuropeptide family (Nässel & Winther, 2010). Recent research, specifically in D. melanogaster, has allowed for an increased understanding of neuropeptide signalling in insects.

5.1 Origin and evolution

Neuropeptides are an ancient signalling system, which probably evolved alongside the origin of the nervous system (Grimmelikhuijzen & Hauser, 2012), or even before this (Fairclough *et al.*, 2013). The first animals considered to have a nervous system are from the phylum of *Cnidaria*, which

evolved before the split of Protostomia and Deuterostomia. Interestingly, cnidarians show a rich number of neuropeptides, but are lacking classical (fast-acting) transmitter systems, like acetylcholine and GABA (Grimmelikhuijzen *et al.*, 2002). Many of the ancestral neuropeptide families, however, have changed after years of receptor/peptide coevolution and barely resemble the ancient structure (Hansen *et al.*, 2010). Nonetheless, some neuropeptide families have retained their structure and binding properties, so that in a few cases, an insect neuropeptide receptor can still be activated by, e.g., a mammalian neuropeptide (Birse *et al.*, 2006).

Several studies have striven to identify the ancestors of "modern" neuropeptide families, by analysing neuropeptides in evolutionarily primitive animals (Jekely, 2013; Mirabeau & Joly, 2013). The findings from those studies indicate that many neuropeptide systems originated from their core paralogues, i.e., are derived from the same ancestral gene, but have undergone structural changes during their respective evolution (Jekely, 2013). For example, neuropeptides of many families have a similar C-terminal recognition site bearing an RFamide motif (i.e., an amidated C-terminal argininephenylalanine sequence) (Elphick & Mirabeau, 2014). One hypothesis for the occurrence of several structurally related RFamide-signalling systems is that the common ancestor possessed a signalling system ending with RFamide, which duplicated during the course of evolution and diversified. The RFamide motif has in this case been either retained, modified or lost in different animal phyla (Elphick & Mirabeau, 2014) This marks an important aspect of neuropeptide evolution, which is that neuropeptide signalling systems can duplicate, creating new neuropeptide families, or can disappear completely in some orders (Hauser et al., 2008; Hauser & Grimmelikhuijzen, 2014).

Analysis of the evolutionary old insect subclass Pterygota shows that the set of neuropeptide families remains fairly conserved in the class of insects (Derst *et al.*, 2016). Nevertheless, modification events, including modification of sequences, gene duplications, changes of isoforms within neuropeptide precursors, and even the complete loss of a family can be found as lineagespecific events (Derst *et al.*, 2016). One common conserved feature of the neuropeptide signalling systems is their role in regulating sensory input in a state-dependent manner (Bargmann, 2012; Taghert & Nitabach, 2012). Several other conserved functions in insects, are in part shared with the ancestral organisms, for example, muscle control (McFarlane *et al.*, 1987) and regulation of food intake (Dockray, 2004).
5.2 Processing

In contrast to classical neurotransmitters, which are generally enzymatically synthesised directly in the synapse, neuropeptides are generated via standard ribosomal translation in the cell body (Fricker, 2012). Neuropeptide genes are translated into large peptides, called prepropeptides, which subsequently are processed into one or several functional neuropeptides (Fricker, 2012). Prepropeptides contain a secretory signal sequence and recognition sites for enzymatic cleavage separating the neuropeptide moieties. After translation, the prepropeptide is guided into the lumen of the rough endoplasmic reticulum, where the signal peptide is removed (as in the classical secretory pathway) (Fricker, 2012). As a next step, the precursor is packed into secretory granulates (large dense core vesicles) and processed into the mature neuropeptides, in a cascade involving several enzymatic steps. One important step is the enzymatic cleavage of the mature neuropeptides at a recognition site of specific basic amino acids (Veenstra, 2000). In invertebrates, a majority of these recognition sites contains a dibasic sequence of lysine (K) and/or arginine (R). The site KR is most common in insects, although in a few cases RR sites are cleaved as well (Veenstra, 2000). In addition, several precursors contain so called monobasic cleavage sites of R. Usually a monobasic site contains another R upstream after an even number of non-basic amino acids (e.g. RXXR or RXXXR) (Veenstra, 2000). In this case, the cut is usually introduced after the second base from the N-terminus, but occasionally also after the first base (e.g., in short neuropeptide F (sNPF) (Predel et al., 2010)). Only a small number of peptides are cleaved at a true monobasic site containing only an R or a K (Fricker, 2012). Enzymatic cleavage leaves one or two basic amino acids at the C-terminus, which are subsequently removed by a carboxypeptidase (Fricker, 2012). Most neuropeptides are amidated at the Cterminus, a modification necessary for receptor recognition. Amidation is a two-step process, in which a C-terminal glycine is hydrolysed and subsequently cleaved (Kolhekar et al., 1997; Prigge et al., 2000).

5.3 G-Protein coupled receptors (GPCRs)

Most neuropeptides act through GPCRs, the largest gene family of receptors (Fredriksson *et al.*, 2003). Most GPCRs that bind neuropeptides are grouped in the rhodopsin-like GPCR family (subgroup β or γ) and fewer are grouped in the secretin-like class (Fredriksson *et al.*, 2003). GPCRs typically have seven membrane spanning α -helices (transmembrane domains), each comprising approximately 20-30 hydrophobic amino acids that are connected via extraand intracellular loops. The N-terminus is located in the extracellular space and usually contains several glycosylation sites. The C-terminus is located in the cytoplasm and holds potential phosphorylation sites. The ligands of the receptor can bind to a ligand binding pocket, which is formed by the extracellular domains and parts of the transmembrane domains. The intracellular parts facilitate interaction with a member of the heterotrimeric guanosine triphosphate (GTP)-binding proteins (G proteins), which consist of α -, β - and γ -subunits (Bockaert & Pin, 1999).

Ligand binding induces a conformational change in the GPCR, which activates the coupled G-protein by promoting release of guanosine diphosphate (GDP) from the α -subunit. Subsequently, the α -subunit binds a GTP molecule, resulting in the dissociation from the $\beta\gamma$ subunits, which releases both complexes from the receptor. These subunits then elicit intracellular responses through the action of various signalling cascades, until activity of the $G\alpha$ is stopped by hydrolysis of the bound GTP to GDP (Fricker, 2012). There are several subfamilies of the α -subunit, each containing multiple members that signal through different pathways. The most common ones are $G\alpha_{q}$, $G\alpha_{s}$, and $G\alpha_{i/o}$. The $G\alpha_q$ subunit activates phospholipase C β (PLC β), which hydrolyses phospholipids into diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol triphosphate (IP3), which then can act as second messengers. DAG activates protein kinase C (PKC), which can phosphorylate various molecules, and IP3 mobilizes Ca2+ from intracellular stores such as the endoplasmic reticulum. The $G\alpha_s$ subunit mediates receptor dependent activation of the membrane-integral enzyme adenylyl cyclase, which catalyses the conversion of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) into cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP). Increased cAMP levels stimulate other enzymatic processes, which in turn can lead to short-term effects, such as reducing the conductance of K⁺ channels, or long-term effects involving gene-expression changes. An additional pathway for the $G\alpha_s$ subunit is the activation of Ca^{2+} channels. In contrast to $G\alpha_s$, the $G\alpha_{i/o}$ subunit inhibits adenylyl cyclase leading to a decrease in cAMP concentration within the cell. Activating a receptor coupled to the $G\alpha_{i/o}$ subunit can also activate K⁺ channels (Wettschureck & Offermanns, 2005). The coupling of neuropeptide GPCRs to different G α -subunits can activate various pathways, with sometimes opposite effects in the cell (Wettschureck & Offermanns, 2005). This makes it difficult to predict the function of neuropeptide signalling in a network, based only on knowledge of the receptor location. Additionally, GPCRs are not always faithful to one specific subunit (Meeusen et al., 2003; Huang et al., 2014), increasing the complexity of neuromodulatory functions.

In the pre-genomic era, it was very difficult to characterize a specific GPCR and couple it to its cognate ligand (Caers *et al.*, 2012). However, with the publication of the *D. melanogaster* genome (Adams *et al.*, 2000), followed by

the release of genomes of several other insects (Yin *et al.*, 2016), it has become possible to predict the structure of a GPCR based on available genomic data (Hewes, 2001; Riehle *et al.*, 2002; Hauser *et al.*, 2008). Since then, considerable progress has been made in the deorphanization of a variety of neuropeptide GPCRs in *D. melanogaster* and other insects (Caers *et al.*, 2012).

Current methods for GPCR characterization include а reverse pharmacological approach, in which a gene encoding neuropeptide receptor is identified in the genome and expressed in a heterologous system (Caers et al., 2012). The most commonly used expression system is Chinese hamster ovary (CHO) cells, but human embryonic kidney 293 (HEK) cells and Xenopus levis oocytes are also used (Caers et al., 2012). Irrespective of expression system, the GPCRs are expressed and then exposed to potential ligands, whereupon receptor activation is measured based on the visualization of an intracellular response. As mentioned above, GPCR receptors can couple to several Gprotein subunits, and for most GPCRs the specific G-protein is unknown. To circumvent this problem, several cell assays make use of the promiscuous G protein α -subunit G_{α 16}, which couples with most GPCRs, independent of the natural G protein preference. The $G_{\alpha 16}$ subunit redirects the intracellular response towards the release of Ca²⁺ via activation of PLC (Offermanns and Simon, 1995). Intracellular Ca^{2+} can be measured using, for example, a bioluminescence- or fluorescence-based assay. In the bioluminescence-based assay, the interaction of the bioluminescent protein aequorin with calcium is used, which leads to the emission of light (Staubli et al., 2002; Hauser et al., 2006). For the fluorescence-based assay, a calcium-sensitive fluorophore is used (Bender et al., 2002). In another type of assay, intracellular cAMP is measured using a reporter plasmid, which has a cAMP response element that transcribes luciferase (Hearn et al., 2002; Johnson, 2004). When using Xenopus oocytes as a heterologous expression system, receptors are usually characterized by electrophysiological recording. In this assay the GPCR is expressed together with inwardly rectifying potassium channels. Upon ligand binding, inward K⁺ currents can be measured (Kofuji et al., 1995; Ho & Murrell-Lagnado, 1999; Ulens et al., 1999). Each of the described heterologous systems comes with their own advantages; for example, the possibility of circumventing an unknown G-protein pathway, or the desire to test ligands in a high-throughput screen, makes one or the other of the systems preferable, depending on the research question.

Apart from the identification of the cognate neuropeptide of a specific receptor, characterization of a GPCR can still hold surprises. For example, it was shown that the sNPF receptor in the fire ant *Solenopsis invicta* detects a modified sNPF, which is more similar to the neuropeptide F (NPF), a feature

so far unique in insects (Bajracharya *et al.*, 2014). Additionally, many neuropeptide isoforms can bind to their cognate GPCR with different affinities as seen e.g., in the allatostatin-A family (Verlinden *et al.*, 2015). This indicates the importance of receptor characterization for all neuropeptide isoforms and homologues of known receptors.

5.4 Neuropeptide families in the regulation of feeding behaviour

Neuropeptides can have multitudes of functions by acting at different locations and in response to different internal signalling cascades. In addition, a single neuropeptide family can be involved in diverse physiological processes and behaviours (Nässel & Winther, 2010; Schoofs *et al.*, 2017). Moreover, a complex behaviour like foraging may involve several neuropeptides, working in concert (Itskov & Ribeiro, 2013; Schoofs *et al.*, 2017). The topic of this thesis is the regulation of host-seeking, which is dependent on the stage within the gonotrophic cycle, but also the nutritional state of the mosquito (Klowden, 1990). So far, only limited information is available about the neuropeptidergic regulation of host-seeking. Hence, in the following paragraphs, I will introduce the major neuropeptide families that have been described to play a significant role in regulating feeding behaviour in other insects, with a focus on *D. melanogaster*. The information about neuropeptides shown to be involved in host-seeking in mosquitoes will be discussed in more detail in chapter 5.6.

5.4.1 Tachykinin (TK)

The TK-like peptide family is ancient and conserved, and orthologous with the vertebrate TKs (Van Loy *et al.*, 2010). The TK precursor is conserved across insects and carries up to six isoforms with a conserved C-terminal motif of FxGxRamide (Van Loy *et al.*, 2010; Vogel *et al.*, 2013). Also, the TK receptor is conserved across insects, including mosquitoes, and has been characterized in for example in *D. melanogaster* (Birse *et al.*, 2006; Van Loy *et al.*, 2010; Vogel *et al.*, 2013, 2015) Tachykinin and its receptor are expressed in interneurons in most neuropils of the central nervous system (CNS) and endocrine cells in the midgut of insects (Nässel, 2002; Wegener & Veenstra, 2015). In the peripheral and primary olfactory systems, TK signalling has been shown in the antennae (Meola *et al.*, 2017). and the antennal lobe (Nässel, 2002; Carlsson *et al.*, 2010; Siju *et al.*, 2014). While immunoreactivity to TK has been shown in the antennae of both *Culex salinarius* and *Ae. aegypti* (Meola *et al.*, 2017).

al., 1998; Meola & Sittertz-Bhatkar, 2002), these results have not been supported in later studies (Siju *et al.*, 2014). A more conserved characteristic of TK is the expression in the AL. In all insects studied so far, is its co-expression with GABA in LNs (Nässel, 2002). In *Ae. aegypti*, seven to nine LNs with cell bodies lateral to the AL are found to express the neuropeptide, while in *D. melanogaster* ca. 20 LNs, distributed in two cell clusters, are found (Carlsson *et al.*, 2010; Siju *et al.*, 2014). In *D. melanogaster*, the TK receptor is expressed in LNs and OSNs (Ignell *et al.*, 2009).

Expression of TK in the antennae of insects suggests that TK modulates antennal sensitivity (Jung *et al.*, 2013; Gui *et al.*, 2017). In *P. americana*, injection of TK reduces olfactory responses (Jung *et al.*, 2013), while in the oriental fruit fly *Bactrocera dorsalis*, the silencing of either the TK-precursor or its receptor reduces the antennal response, suggesting an opposite role for TK in this insect (Gui *et al.*, 2017). In the *D. melanogaster* AL, TK is an important regulator of foraging behaviour. Tachykinin modifies olfactory sensitivity and innate odour preference, and appears to be linked with repellent responses to high concentrations of specific odours (Winther *et al.*, 2006; Ignell *et al.*, 2009). The regulation of olfactory behaviour by TK within the AL will be discussed in more detail in chapter 5.5.

5.4.2 Short neuropeptide F (sNPF)

The short neuropeptide F family has only been found in arthropods (Nässel & Wegener, 2011). A single sNPF precursor has been identified in all insects studied so far, including a variable number of sNPF isoforms, ranging from one to two in non-dipteran species and four to five in dipterans (Nässel & Wegener, 2011). The sNPF C-terminal consensus sequence is which xPxLRLRFamide, for some isoforms in dipterans, including mosquitoes, has been modified to xPxRLRWamide (Nässel & Wegener, 2011). In Ae. aegypti, a duplication event appears to have yielded a second sNPF-like gene, which encodes the Aedes-Head Peptides (HPs) (Matsumoto et al., 1989; Stracker et al., 2002; Nässel & Wegener, 2011). This duplication event appears to be species-specific as no similar gene has been discovered in any other arthropod (Nässel & Wegener, 2011). The HP precursor yields three copies of the neuropeptide, which after post-translational modifications is of the sequence pERPhPSLKTRFa (with pE being a pyroglutamic acid and hP being a hydroxyproline) (Stracker et al., 2002).

The sNPF receptor has been identified as a single-copy gene in *D. melanogaster* and *An. coluzzii*. These receptors and orthologues in several other insects have been described to be highly sensitive to sNPF (Garczynski *et*

al., 2006, 2007; Yamanaka *et al.*, 2008; Dillen *et al.*, 2013; Bajracharya *et al.*, 2014; Caers *et al.*, 2016b). In *Ae. aegypti*, Liesch *et al.* (2013) identified one receptor (NPYLR1), which responds to all endogenous sNPF isoforms with high sensitivity and to HP with lower sensitivity. The high sequence similarity between *Ae. aegypti* NPYLR1 and the characterized sNPF receptor in *An. coluzzii* suggests that NPYLR1 is an orthologue sNPF receptor (Garczynski *et al.*, 2007; Liesch *et al.*, 2013). So far NPYLR1 is the only receptor found to be responsive to HPs.

Short neuropeptide F is a pleiotropic peptide, which in *D. melanogaster* shows a wide distribution in a large number of neurons and neurosecretory cells in the CNS (Nässel & Wegener, 2011). In both *D. melanogaster* and *Ae. aegypti* detailed studies have been conducted on sNPF immune-positive neurons innervating the AL, revealing expression in different types of AL neurons (Carlsson *et al.*, 2010; Siju *et al.*, 2014). In *Ae. aegypti*, sNPF is expressed in 4 to 10 LNs innervating a subset of glomeruli (Siju *et al.*, 2014). In contrast, in *D. melanogaster* sNPF is expressed in OSNs that innervate a subset of glomeruli (Carlsson *et al.*, 2010). Expression of sNPF has also been found in the antenna in another dipteran species, the oriental fruit fly *B. dorsalis* (Jiang *et al.*, 2017). The different expression of sNPF in the olfactory system of *Ae. aegypti* and *D. melanogaster* suggests divergent functions in the two species.

Short neuropeptide F has been associated with various physiological processes, of which a key function that is conserved throughout arthropods is the regulation of feeding behaviour (Nässel & Wegener, 2011). In various insects, the sNPF system is either upregulated upon starvation or positively linked to increased food intake, including the flies D. melanogaster (Lee et al., 2004; Root et al., 2011) and B. dorsalis (Jiang et al., 2017), the honey bee Apis mellifera (Ament et al., 2011), the cockroach P. americana (Mikani et al., 2012), and the moth Bombyx mori (Nagata et al., 2012). In other insects, starvation leads to a downregulation of the sNPF system or is negatively linked to food intake, as observed in S. invicta (Chen & Pietrantonio, 2006), Ae. aegypti (Liesch et al., 2013) or Schistocerca gregaria (Dillen et al., 2013, 2014). There appears to be no evolutionary trend explaining whether sNPF acts orexigenically or anorexigenically in a certain insect. Interestingly, in both Ae. aegypti and S. invicta, sNPF or its receptor are expressed in LNs, opposite to the expression in OSNs in D. melanogaster and B. dorsalis, which suggests a potential link between the AL neuron type and function (Castillo & Pietrantonio, 2013; Siju et al., 2014). One mechanism involving sNPF in feeding regulation linked to the olfactory system has been described for D. melanogaster, which will be discussed in more detail below 5.5.

5.4.3 Allatostatin-A (AstA)

Allatostatin-A is named after its first discovered function in the cockroach *Diploptera punctata*; the inhibition of juvenile hormone biosynthesis (Woodhead *et al.*, 1989). The name, however, is misleading, as AstA is not necessarily allatostatic, but may have other functions (Verlinden *et al.*, 2015). The single AstA precursor contains a number of isoforms, highly variable between insect species, that are characterized by a conserved pentapeptide C-terminal sequence (Y/F)xFG(L/I)-amide (Bendena *et al.*, 1999). In mosquitoes, five AstA isoforms are found (Bendena *et al.*, 1999). Allatostatin-A is detected by two receptors, AstAR1 and AstAR2, in dipterans (Félix *et al.*, 2015). The duplication of the AstA receptors seem to be an dipteran-specific event, as only one receptor has been found in other insects (Verlinden *et al.*, 2015). In mosquitoes, the AstA receptors have been characterized in *An. coluzzii* by Félix *et al.* (2015) and in *Ae. aegypti* and *Cx. quinquefasciatus* as part of this thesis work.

Allatostatin-A in *D. melanogaster* and *Ae. aegypti* is expressed in the CNS in several cell groups consisting of two or six cells in the proto- and tritocerebrum, as well as in several interneurons innervating the optical lobes, the central complex and the AL, as well as being expressed in the enteroendocrine cells in the midgut (Yoon & Stay, 1995; Hernández-Martínez *et al.*, 2005; Carlsson *et al.*, 2010; Siju *et al.*, 2014). While AstA is expressed in LNs of both *Ae. aegypti* and *D. melanogaster*, the number of LNs differs between species, with 12-16 LNs innervating a subset of glomeruli in *Ae. aegypti* (Siju *et al.*, 2014) whereas only three LNs are found in *D. melanogaster* (Carlsson *et al.*, 2010). The distribution of AstA in neurosecretory cells, as well as in local neurons, suggests that AstA can function as paracrine released factor or confined to a local network.

Allatostatin-A has been described to act directly as a regulator of foraging behaviour. In *D. melanogaster* larvae, the knock-down of either the AstAR1 or the AstA precursor reduces foraging behaviour in the presence of food (Wang *et al.*, 2012). Moreover, Hergarden *et al.* (2012) demonstrated that the constitutive activation of AstA-expressing cells in adult *D. melanogaster* decreases starvation-induced feeding behaviour, while constitutive inactivation of these AstA cells under restricted food conditions increased feeding. The observed decrease in feeding behaviour induced by AstA activation can be reversed by simultaneously activating NPF-expressing neurons, suggesting that the two neuropeptides may act antagonistically to control feeding in *D*.

melanogaster (Hergarden *et al.*, 2012). A recent study further investigated the mechanism underlying feeding inhibition in *D. melanogaster*, and showed that the conditional activation of a subset of AstA neurons, which have cell bodies in the posterior lateral protocerebrum, and enteroendocrine cells in the posterior midgut, are sufficient to reduce food intake (Chen *et al.*, 2016). This raises the possibility that AstA modulation in the CNS is at least partly mediated by neurohormonal release from enteroendocrine cells in the midgut (Wegener & Veenstra, 2015; Chen *et al.*, 2016).

Allatostatin-A signalling in D. melanogaster appears to be dependent on the nutritional state of the animal. This was shown by measuring transcript expression of the AstA precursor and the AstAR2 in response to different diets (Hentze et al., 2015). Both AstA and AstAR2 transcripts were downregulated after nutrient restriction, as compared to control flies fed on sucrose-rich food (Hentze et al., 2015). When flies were re-fed after a period of nutrient restriction on a carbohydrate-rich diet, AstA and AstAR2 transcript levels were strongly upregulated compared to those observed in nutrient-restricted flies and ad libitum fed control flies. When flies, however, were refed on a protein-rich diet, only a weak upregulation in AstA was observed (Hentze et al., 2015). Furthermore, constitutive activation of AstA changed the preference of D. melanogaster for protein at the expense of their natural preference for sucrose (Hentze et al., 2015). Interestingly, this change in preference was stronger in females compared to males, which might be an adaptation for the different reproductive requirements for protein and sugar (Hentze et al., 2015). Hentze et al. (2015) further showed that there is a strong link between AstA signalling and both insulin and adipokinetic hormone expression. This suggests that AstA can act as a nutrient sensor which will be discussed in chapter 5.4.5.

5.4.4 Neuropeptide F (NPF)

Despite the name, and a similar consensus sequence, NPF is not related to the insect sNPF, although they overlap in function (Nässel & Wegener, 2011). In most invertebrates, one or two genes encode NPF-like precursors invariably containing a single copy of NPF (Nässel & Wegener, 2011). The NPF neuropeptide is comparatively long with more than 28 amino-acid residues, of which several are conserved in invertebrates, including a C-terminal motif of RxRF (mostly RPRFa or RVRF) (Nässel & Wegener, 2011). The NPF precursors have been characterized in a number of species, including *D. melanogaster*, *Ae. aegypti*, and *An. coluzzii* (Brown *et al.*, 1999; Stanek *et al.*, 2002; Garczynski *et al.*, 2005; Nässel & Wegener, 2011). The NPF receptor has been predicted in several insect species (Caers *et al.*, 2012) and has been characterized in, for example, *D. melanogaster* and *An. coluzzii* (Garczynski *et al.*, 2002, 2005; Deng *et al.*, 2014; Caers *et al.*, 2016a). In *Ae. aegypti* the NPF-like receptor NPYLR8 was identified as a likely orthologue to the characterized NPF receptors (Liesch *et al.*, 2013).

In *D. melanogaster*, a large number of NPF-expressing neurons have been detected in the CNS, as well as in endocrine cells in the midgut (Nässel & Wegener, 2011). Interestingly, all NPF neurons in the CNS of *D. melanogaster* are interneurons (Nässel & Wegener, 2011). Neuropeptide F expression in the CNS of *Ae. aegypti*, on the other hand, appears to be restricted to one pair of medial neurosecretory cells, up to 6 other pairs of cells in the protocerebrum, and one pair of cells in the subesophageal ganglion. Additional cells are found in a ring in the cardia region of the midgut and the posterior midgut. High titres of the neuropeptide are found circulating in the lymph suggesting a neurohormonal release of this neuropeptide in *Ae. aegypti* (Stanek *et al.*, 2002). While NPF is expressed in neurosecretory cells in the CNS of *Ae. aegypti* and other insects (Nässel & Wegener, 2011) this is not the case in *D. melanogaster*, suggesting a differential neurohormonal role of NPF in insects.

Neuropeptide F has been associated with the regulation of feeding in many insects (Nässel & Wegener, 2011; Schoofs et al., 2017). In *D. melanogaster*, a clear orexigenic function of NPF has been observed. Larvae of *D. melanogaster* are highly attracted to food prior to pupation, during which state they exhibit food aversion (Wu *et al.*, 2003). These state-dependent changes in behaviour are correlated with changes in *NPF* gene expression, which is highly upregulated in larvae that are attracted to food, but downregulated in larvae that exhibit food aversion (Wu *et al.*, 2003). Overexpression of NPF in larvae prolongs the time during which the larvae are feeding (Wu *et al.*, 2003). Moreover, NPF signalling increases the acceptance of resources and conditions that are otherwise avoided (Wu *et al.*, 2005a; b; Lingo *et al.*, 2007). For example, the overexpression of NPF increases the larval tolerance for noxious food and/or under less preferable environmental conditions such as cold temperatures, whereas knock-down of NPF signalling reverses these phenotypes (Wu *et al.*, 2005a; b; Lingo *et al.*, 2007).

Studies in *D. melanogaster* suggest that several NPF-associated neuronal pathways in the CNS are involved in the regulation of fly feeding. For example, Wang *et al.*, (2013) was able to show that the disruption of NPF signalling blocks odour-mediated feeding behaviour by causing deficits in higher-order olfactory processing (Wang *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, in a study measuring the activity of NPF neurosecretory cells in adult *D. melanogaster*, Beshel & Zhong (2013) found a strong correlation between NPF activity and the resulting behavioural attractiveness of food-related odours. *Drosophila*

melanogaster generally exhibits an increased attraction towards food-related odours during starvation, which is reflected in NPF activity. However, the correlation was also observed in fed flies, suggesting that NPF does not solely act as a hunger signal (Beshel & Zhong, 2013). These studies, in *D. melanogaster*, demonstrate that NPF signalling regulates odour-mediated feeding behaviour, probably via interneurons in the CNS (Nässel & Wegener, 2011). The involvement of NPF signalling in the modulation of feeding is also suggested in several other insects, in which NPF is found in neurosecretory cells in the CNS (Nässel & Wegener, 2011). While the involvement of NPF in feeding behaviour appears to be conserved among insects (Nässel & Wegener, 2011), it merits further investigation; particularly whether potential neurohormonal release of NPF has a functional role in odour mediated feeding behaviour.

5.4.5 Insulin like peptides (ILPs)

The insect insulin-like peptides (ILPs) are a class of neurohormones that have been associated with feeding, and which both modulate, and are modulated by, several neuropeptides (Nässel & Broeck, 2016). In insects, a varying number of partly functionally redundant ILPs exists (eight in Ae. aegypti, seven in An. coluzzii and eight in D. melanogaster), while only one insulin receptor is known (Krieger et al., 2004; Riehle et al., 2006; Nässel et al., 2013, 2015; Nässel & Broeck, 2016). In the CNS of adult D. melanogaster, ILPs are expressed by a set of 14 median neurosecretory cells, also termed insulinproducing cells (IPCs), which have distinct arborisations in the pars intercerebralis, the tritocerebrum and several other parts of the body (Nässel et al., 2015). While this pattern of expression is recapitulated in mosquitoes, additional lateral neurosecretory cells expressing ILPs can be found (Riehle et al., 2006; Marquez et al., 2011). The regulation of feeding by ILPs has been studied in more detail in D. melanogaster (Nässel et al., 2015; Nässel & Broeck, 2016) than in mosquitoes, in which the focus is on the regulation of ovarian development (Brown et al., 2008; Wen et al., 2010; Dhara et al., 2013; Strand et al., 2016).

An important feature of ILPs is that they can integrate nutrient information with physiological activities in *D. melanogaster* (Wu *et al.*, 2005b). In the adult, IPCs serve directly as a sensor of the nutritional state, specifically of glucose levels, through cell-autonomous glucose sensing (Park et al., 2014) and can be regulated by a variety of other neuromodulators (Nässel & Broeck, 2016). Functional evidence for this is seen in the fact that starvation directly modifies ILP transcript levels in *D. melanogaster* larvae (Ikeya *et al.*, 2002).

The global levels of ILPs released by the IPCs according to the nutritional status can also influence the activity of neural circuits and regulate behaviours (Root *et al.*, 2011; Ko *et al.*, 2015; Nässel & Broeck, 2016; Kim *et al.*, 2017). For example, ILP signalling can negatively affect NPF signalling in *D. melanogaster*, which is critical for feeding motivation, as described earlier (see chapter *5.4.4*). Consequently, high levels of ILPs stimulate food aversion in starved larvae, through regulating the activity of NPF signalling, while low levels of ILP increase feeding motivation (Wu *et al.*, 2005a; b; Lingo *et al.*, 2007). Another example of how ILPs modulate odour-mediated behaviour will be discussed in an example in the following chapter (*5.5*).

The IPC expresses a variety of GPCRs sensitive to biogenic amines and neuropeptides including serotonin, octopamine, TK, sNPF, and AstA and can therefore be influenced by various signalling systems (Hentze et al., 2015; Nässel et al., 2015; Nässel & Broeck, 2016). One distinct population of neurons innervating the IPCs are the dorsolateral peptidergic neurons (DLPs) that are potentially involved in nutrient sensing (Kapan et al., 2012). The DLPs express a gustatory receptor that responds to circulating fructose, as well as GPCRs for two diuretic hormones and AstA (Johnson, 2005; Miyamoto et al., 2012; Nässel et al., 2015). Moreover, the DLPs co-express sNPF and Corazonin (another neuropeptide), and knock-down of sNPF in these cells leads to a decrease in ILP transcripts in the IPCs, suggesting that sNPF is important for ILP regulation (Kapan et al., 2012). The neuropeptide AstA may indirectly regulate the IPCs through the DLPs, and AstA can influence ILPs directly. The Drosophila-AstAR2 is expressed in the IPCs, which are directly innervated by AstA-positive neurons, and the IPCs may also be targeted by circulating AstA produced by enteroendocrine cells from the midgut (Hentze et al., 2015). Activation of AstA-positive neurons stimulates ILP production, while a loss of function mutant has the opposite phenotype. Note, however that not only IPCs are targeted by AstA, but also cells producing the neuropeptide adipokinetic hormone, which can also regulate activity in the IPCs, suggesting that AstA regulation of the ILPs is complex. This suggests that neurohormones can be a bridge between the state of the insect and the behaviour mediated by neuromodulation of local neuronal networks. Interestingly, both the release of the neurohormone and its subsequent modulation of networks, involve interactions with other neuromodulators, emphasising the complexity of statedependent regulation of behaviour.

5.5 Neuropeptides in nutritional state-dependent regulation of the olfactory system

Several neuropeptide families are involved in the regulation of a complex process like the state-dependent regulation of feeding behaviour. This state-dependent neuromodulation occurs at various levels within the olfactory pathway, from the change in sensitivity at the peripheral level, through altering the response profile in AL glomeruli, and on to modulation of the processes in higher brain centres. At the level of local networks, several neuropeptides work in concert to achieve an appropriate behavioural output. In *D. melanogaster*, substantial progress has been made in unravelling the molecules and mechanisms through which the response of the olfactory system is modulated to facilitate feeding. Here, the example provided in the fly will be used to demonstrate the complexity the neuromodulation of the AL circuity.

Like all insects, *D. melanogaster* shows a nutritional-state-dependent change of odour-mediated foraging behaviour. The attractiveness of food-related odours is reduced during satiety, which discourages the fly from further feeding (Root *et al.*, 2011; Ko *et al.*, 2015). Conversely, starvation increases not only the innate preference to specific food-related odours, but also the tolerance of innately aversive odours such as those emitted by low-quality food (Ko *et al.*, 2015). Several studies have shown that a variety of neuropeptides act upon the AL network to modulate the response at various levels of the system.

In a series of experiments, Ko et al. (2015) demonstrated how starvation modulates feeding by inducing a shift in the AL chemotopic map. The behavioural change, which leads to an increased attraction to the smell of the food-related odour of vinegar, requires the modulation of the neural circuitry within two AL glomeruli. More specifically, it requires the facilitation of synaptic outputs from the DM1 glomerulus and the suppression of those from the DM5 glomerulus. The DM1 and DM5 glomeruli were previously shown to mediate odour-guided attraction and aversion behaviours, respectively. Neuromodulators effect changes in these odour channels by modulating the action of two neuropeptides, sNPF and TK (Ko et al., 2015). In the DM1 glomerulus, sNPF facilitates attraction of hungry flies by autocrine release from the OSN, hypothetically at the OSN-PN synapse. In parallel, DM5 activity is suppressed by TK released from LNs, which acts on TK-receptors on the DM5 OSNs. In this example, both neuromodulators are themselves regulated by circulating ILPs. In fed flies, ILP levels are elevated, and the sNPF and TK receptors are downregulated, while in hungry flies the upregulation of both receptors is observed.

In a recent study, the neuropeptide SIFa also modulates the AL network in a nutritional-state-dependent manner (Martelli *et al.*, 2017). SIFamide is expressed in four distinct and conserved cells in the pars intercerebralis, which arborize in most parts of the CNS, including the AL (Terhzaz *et al.*, 2007). Upon starvation, increased neuronal activity in the SIFa neurons induces activity in specific LN populations and increases the odour response in distinct PNs (Martelli *et al.*, 2017). It appears that SIFa specifically regulates the sensitivity towards appetitive odours. The SIFa neurons themselves receive input from, and are therefore likely regulated by, several orexigenic and anorexigenic neuropeptidergic neurons, known to respond to the nutritional state of the fly (Martelli *et al.*, 2017).

To further demonstrate the complexity of nutritional-state dependent regulation of olfactory-driven feeding behaviour in the fly, another neuropeptide, CCHamide-1 (Farhan *et al.*, 2013), has been described as a feeding-related brain-gut neuropeptide in *D. melanogaster* (Ida *et al.*, 2012). The CCHamide-1 receptor is expressed in OSNs, with a range broader than that of the sNPF receptor (Farhan *et al.*, 2013). Starvation induces increased activity in several OSN populations, expressing ORs and IRs, by release of CCHamide-1 in the brain (Farhan *et al.*, 2013). While the mechanism behind this CCHamide-1-induced sensitisation is not clear, the authors suggest that CCHamide-1 signalling might affect OSN sensitivity at the antennal level rather than in the AL (Farhan *et al.*, 2013).

In summary, the primary olfactory processing centre responds to metabolic signals by shaping neuronal transmission within the AL network. Upon starvation, several neuropeptides are recruited through the action of neurohormones, or by feedback through orexigenic and anorexigenic neuropeptidergic neurons, and modulate the olfactory system at various levels, including the response of OSNs and LNs. The above examples show that a state-dependent modulation can have a precise influence on specific odour channels to ultimately form an appropriate behavioural output. Nevertheless, it is not clear how well specific modulatory systems are conserved among insects. For example, a comparison of sNPF expression between *Ae. aegypti* and *D. melanogaster* revealed that sNPF is found in OSNs in *D. melanogaster* and LNs in *Ae. aegypti* (Carlsson *et al.*, 2010; Siju *et al.*, 2014). This highlights the importance of investigating behavioural neuromodulation outside of *D. melanogaster*.

5.6 Neuropeptides in blood-feeding and host-seeking behaviour in *Ae. aegypti*

As introduced in the previous chapters, blood feeding leads to a significant change in the olfactory-guided host-seeking behaviour of mosquitoes. Little is known, however, about the neuromodulators involved in regulating this behaviour. As discussed before, Klowden and colleagues showed that the second stage of blood-feeding-induced inhibition of host-seeking behaviour is mediated by a factor released by the ovaries or the fat body, but the identity of this factor remains unknown (Klowden, 1990). Consequently, we do not know whether there is direct modulation by this factor or if it recruits local networks, which thereupon modulate sensory systems, including the olfactory system. So far, only two neuropeptides, HP and sNPF, have been found to be associated with the regulation of host-seeking in *Ae. aegypti* (Brown *et al.*, 1994; Liesch *et al.*, 2013) these will be discussed here in more detail.

In an early study, Brown and colleagues found that the titre of HP was upregulated during behavioural inhibition after blood feeding, and showed that the injection of this peptide into non-blood-fed mosquitoes inhibited hostseeking behaviour (Brown et al., 1994). Although these results have been reproduced (Liesch et al., 2013), other studies have failed to detect HP in any female tissue (Predel et al., 2010; Duvall et al., 2017). The Aedes head peptide is, however, produced in high quantities in male accessory glands, and transferred to females only during copulation, potentially as a factor to enforce paternity (Naccarati et al., 2012; Duvall et al., 2017). The role of HP as the sole factor responsible for regulating the blood-meal-induced host-seeking inhibition has been rejected, as the knock-down of the HP gene in females does not alter host-seeking behaviour (Duvall et al., 2017). These authors showed that the inhibition of host-seeking behaviour observed after the injection of HP into non-blood fed females could be mediated through the activation of the Ae. *aegypti* NPYLR1, which is activated by both HP and sNPF, a second likely candidate for the endogenously active factor (Liesch et al., 2013).

The influence of NPYLR1 was investigated in detail by Liesch *et al.* (2013), who showed that the injection of sNPF-3 into the lymph of *Ae. aegypti* consistently inhibits host-seeking. Furthermore, transcript levels of *NPYLR1* are significantly upregulated in the whole body of *Ae. aegypti*, between 24 h and 72 h after a blood meal, with a peak at 48 h (Liesch *et al.*, 2013). While these observations strongly suggests that activation of the NPYLR1 receptor mediates host-seeking inhibition, the knock-out of the NPYLR1 had no detectable phenotype on neither host-seeking, feeding nor reproduction (Liesch *et al.*, 2013).

What does this mean for the regulation of host-seeking behaviour by sNPF? Despite the lack of a behavioural phenotype following NPYLR1 knock-out, it is possible that a second NPYLR1 may exist, one that mediates the inhibition of host-seeking behaviour. Liesch *et al.* however found none of the other investigated NPYLRs to respond with high sensitivity to sNPF.

Mediation of host-seeking inhibition by a single factor alone, in fact, appears unlikely. It is more likely that host-seeking behaviour is regulated through redundant signalling systems, working in concert, similar to that which was shown above (e.g. 5.5) using D. melanogaster as an example. In this case, removing the sNPF signalling might not be sufficient to abolish host-seeking. Moreover, it is possible that sNPF itself is recruited by an unknown factor as part of a redundant local network, regulating host-seeking behaviour. Studies in Ae. aegypti and other blood-feeding insects indicate that other neuromodulatory substances are regulated in response to blood feeding (Ons, 2017). In Ae. aegypti, the titre of NPF decreases in blood-fed females and could mediate host-seeking by lifting an inhibition of the release of other neuromodulators (Stanek et al., 2002). This shows that more studies are necessary to understand how odour-mediated host-seeking behaviour is regulated. It remains to be answered, which humoral factors are released for example by the ovaries or fat bodies, to induce a state of behavioural inhibition. Further, the process by which this behavioural inhibition can be superseded by for example the nutritional state of the animal, merits further investigation. And lastly, while there are studies showing the expression of neuropeptides in several local networks, which of those modulators are involved in the regulation of host-seeking-behaviour remains to be determined.

6 Summary of results

Host-seeking and blood feeding are at the centre of the reproductive cycle of adult mosquitoes and have a major impact on disease transmission. This stereotypic behaviour is predominantly driven by olfactory cues and is highly state dependent. A successful blood meal leads to profound changes in the behaviour of the mosquito and in the olfactory system. It is well established that behaviour is dependent on the physiological state, realized through neuromodulation within the central nervous system. Detailed functional studies on neuromodulation of host-seeking behaviour in mosquitoes, however, are few. The aim of this PhD project was to identify the neuropeptides involved in regulating host-seeking behaviour in *Ae. aegypti*, and to characterize them in function and interaction with their receptors.

The identification of neuropeptides involved in regulating host-seeking behaviour in *Ae. aegypti* is presented in paper I. In this study, I first characterized the feeding behaviour of *Ae. aegypti* following a successful blood meal, with a focus on subsequent host-seeking but also with regard to sugarfeeding behaviour. Under laboratory conditions, host-seeking is suppressed for at least 72 h after a successful blood meal, until egg-laying. In addition, a successful blood meal inhibits sugar feeding, which gradually returns over the course of the next three days, culminating in a complete restoration in gravid mosquitoes. The focus of this study, however, was on the identification of neuropeptides involved in the regulation of the observed behaviours.

Together with my colleagues at the University of Marburg, I refined a previous method of MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry by combining direct tissue profiling with the use of isotope labelled neuropeptides. This allowed me to analyse tissues from individual female mosquitoes in a reasonable timeframe and to identify changes in neuropeptide levels depending on different feeding regimes of blood and sugar. I found that within the AL, the levels of sNPF-2, AstA-5, and NPLP-1-5 change following a blood meal, during behavioural inhibition of host-seeking behaviour.

I further injected the neuropeptides identified by the mass spectrometric analysis into non-blood-fed animals to reveal a functional link to host-seeking (Figure 1). Two of these neuropeptides, sNPF and AstA, reduced, but did not abolish, host-seeking when injected into the lymph of non-blood-fed mosquitoes. Inhibition of host-seeking behaviour to the same extend as seen in blood fed mosquitoes was only observed after the injection of a binary blend of sNPF and AstA, indicating multiple neuromodulatory systems necessary for the regulation of host-seeking behaviour. These data served as the basis for my further studies concerning the corresponding receptors for sNPF and AstA.



Figure 1. Systemic injection of synthetic short neuropeptide F-2 (sNPF-2) and allatostatin-A-5 (AstA-5) into non-blood fed female A. aegypti inhibits host seeking behaviour. The percentage of mosquitoes responding to human host cues after injection of physiological saline or 10 mM of sNPF-2, AstA-5, or a blend of both neuropeptides, is presented. As the behaviour of physiological saline injected animals did not differ among the replicates, the data were pooled for comparison. Six biological replicates were performed, and for each group 30-40 mosquitoes were tested. All data are plotted as mean \pm SEM. Bars that are not significantly different share the same letter.

In paper II and III, I strove to extend our knowledge about the AstA and sNPF signalling systems (the neuropeptide precursors and their cognate receptors), by functionally characterizing this system in three mosquito species, *Ae. aegypti, An. coluzzii* and *Cx. quinquefasciatus*. Both the sNPF and the AstA signalling systems have been associated with the modulation of feeding behaviour in previous studies. This includes the stereotypic host-seeking and blood feeding in hematophagous insects. Not only the release of neuropeptides, but also the regulation of the cognate receptors can play a significant role in the regulation of behaviour.

In both papers, I first identified and cloned those neuropeptide precursors and neuropeptide receptors, which had not been described yet. I performed a comparative structural and functional characterization of the receptors by stable expression in a Chinese hamster oocyte cell line that also stably expressed a promiscuous G-protein (CHO/G₁₆). Last I conducted a quantitative real-time PCR analysis, demonstrating that transcript abundance of some of the neuropeptide receptors is regulated following feeding.

In paper II, I focused on the characterization of the AstA receptors. In D. melanogaster and An. coluzzii, two functional AstARs have been described, in contrast to other insects, where only one copy has been found. In this study, I identified, reannotated and cloned the two AstARs in Ae. aegypti and Cx. quinquefasciatus. Phylogenetic analyses of the two AstARs revealed that the mosquito AstAR1s have retained a similar amino-acid sequence as the AstARs from other insect species, in contrast to the AstAR2s. A further intron analysis, however, showed, that the number of introns accumulated in the AstAR2 locus is similar to that in other insects, with only the final two introns being conserved across AstAR1s and AstAR2s. Functional analysis of the AstARs revealed a higher sensitivity of the AstAR2s compared to the AstAR1s in the two culicines Ae. aegypti and Cx. quinquefasciatus, while in An. coluzzii the two receptors displayed similar affinities (Figure 2). This indicates a divergence of the dual AstAR system between the anophelines and culicines. The quantitative real-time PCR revealed changes in the AstAR2 transcript abundance in the heads of Cx. quinquefasciatus, but not the other species in response to feeding.



Figure 2. Functional analysis of *Anopheles coluzzii* (Anoco), *Aedes aegypti* (Aedae) and *Culex quinquefasciatus* (Culqu) allatostatin-A receptors 1 and 2 (AstAR1s and AstAR2s), in response to allatostatin-A (AstA). Dose-dependent activation of mosquito AstARs, stably expressed in CHO/G₁₆ cells, and challenged with various concentrations of AstA-5 is shown. Bioluminescence was normalized to the lowest and highest values, respectively, for each replicate. The AstAR1s are indicated with dashed and AstAR2s with solid lines. Error bars represent the standard deviation.

In paper III, I characterized the sNPF signalling system in the same three mosquito species. The novelty of this study is the characterization of the sNPF signalling system in *Cx. quinquefasciatus* and its comparison with the orthologous systems of *Ae. aegypti* and *An. coluzzii*. I found several *Cx. quinquefasciatus*-specific duplications of the sNPF-3 isoform within the sNPF precursor, not reflected in the precursors of the other two species. Structural and functional characterization, however, showed that the three sNPF receptors tested all behave similarly, perhaps indicating evolutionary constraint (Figure 3). Using quantitative real-time PCR, I demonstrated that transcript abundance of the *Cx. quinquefasciatus sNPF* neuropeptide precursor and receptor is regulated following feeding.



Figure 3. Functional analysis of the *Culex quinquefasciatus* (Culqu), *Aedes aegypti* (Aedae) and *Anopheles coluzzii* (Anoco) sNPFRs in response to endogenous sNPFs. The figure shows the dose-dependent activation of the sNPFRs stably expressed in CHO/G₁₆ and assayed with various concentrations of sNPF-2. Bioluminescence was normalized to the lowest and highest values for each technical replicate, respectively. Error bars represent the standard deviation.

7 Conclusion and perspectives

Mosquitoes are heavily dependent on their sense of smell to locate hosts for blood feeding. An understanding of the endogenous factors regulating the odour-meditated host-seeking behaviour can lay the foundation for the development of novel methods for vector control.

In this thesis, I made considerable progress in the analysis and understanding of neuropeptidergic regulation of odour-mediated host-seeking behaviour in Ae. aegypti. My first paper provides evidence that the modulation of olfactory information during state dependent inhibition of host-seeking is likely regulated by at least two neuropeptides, sNPF and AstA, acting in concert in the ALs. Investigation of both the release of neuropeptides, and the function and regulation of the cognate receptors, is essential to understand the neuropeptidergic signalling system in regulation of host-seeking. The characterization of the AstA signalling system revealed the presence of a dual AstA receptor system in mosquitoes, which is divergent in the culicines, Ae. aegypti and Cx. quinquefasciatus, compared to An. coluzzii. The high sensitivity of the AstAR2 and its regulation in response to blood feeding in Cx. quinquefasciatus, makes this receptor a promising candidate as an essential component in mosquito host seeking behaviour. The AstARs in An. coluzzii, show similar sensitivity in line with that observed by AstAR characterization in D. melanogaster (Larsen et al., 2001), suggesting that there has been no directional selection on ligand specificity of the two receptors. Blood and sugar feeding seemed to have no influence on transcript expression of either the neuropeptide precursors or the receptors in Ae. aegypti and An. coluzzii, while transcript levels of both the sNPFR and the AstAR change in Cx. quinquefasciatus. This suggests that neuromodulation in Cx. quinquefasciatus is regulated on the level of receptor expression, while in Ae. aegypti and An. coluzzii neuromodulation might be achieved by the release of neuropeptides. The differences between neuropeptidergic signalling systems in the three mosquito species and *D. melanogaster*, invites to ask more in depth questions about neuropeptidergic regulation outside *D. melanogaster*.

In recent years, great progress has been made in the development of genetic tools in mosquitoes (Overcash & Adelman, 2016). The dawn of the CRISPR/Cas9 system (Jinek et al., 2012; Kleinstiver et al., 2016) and its establishment in mosquitoes (Gantz et al., 2015; Kistler et al., 2015; Hammond et al., 2016) allows for site-specific gene editing, as shown for example in the recent knock-out of the Aedes-head peptide gene (Duvall et al., 2017). Furthermore, advances have been made in establishing binary gene expression systems, for example the Q-system in An. coluzzii (Riabinina et al., 2016). These developments can enable hypothesis driven questions concerning physiology and behaviour and could provide further insight into the regulation of host-seeking behaviour. For example, the CRISPR/Cas9 technology could be used to clarify the role of AstA signalling in regulating host-seeking in Ae. aegypti. More specifically, a knock-out of either the neuropeptide precursor or the high sensitive AstAR2 could provide information: first about the involvement of AstAs in host-seeking behaviour in general; and second, about the specific function of the AstARs. Moreover, the introduction of a double knock-out in the AstA and sNPF signalling systems could clarify whether these two systems are necessary to induce host-seeking inhibition in blood-fed mosquitoes. The combined power of gene editing, together with the use of the binary gene expression systems, could allow for targeted labelling of key elements within the neuropeptide signalling systems. This could reveal the expression of neuropeptide receptors in AL neuron populations. As a whole, a better understanding of the regulation of host-seeking and blood feeding in vector mosquitoes could result in the rational development of novel approaches for vector control.

References

Abuin, L., Bargeton, B., Ulbrich, M.H., Isacoff, E.Y., Kellenberger, S. & Benton, R. (2011). Functional architecture of olfactory ionotropic glutamate receptors. Neuron, 69(1), pp. 44-60. Adams, M.D., Celniker, S.E., Holt, R.A., Evans, C.A., Gocayne, J.D., Amanatides, P.G., Scherer, S.E., Li, P.W., Hoskins, R.A., Galle, R.F., George, R.A., Lewis, S.E., Richards, S., Ashburner, M., Henderson, S.N., Sutton, G.G., Wortman, J.R., Yandell, M.D., Zhang, O., Chen, L.X., Brandon, R.C., Rogers, Y.H., Blazej, R.G., Champe, M., Pfeiffer, B.D., Wan, K.H., Doyle, C., Baxter, E.G., Helt, G., Nelson, C.R., Gabor, G.L., Abril, J.F., Agbayani, A., An, H.J., Andrews-Pfannkoch, C., Baldwin, D., Ballew, R.M., Basu, A., Baxendale, J., Bayraktaroglu, L., Beasley, E.M., Beeson, K.Y., Benos, P. V, Berman, B.P., Bhandari, D., Bolshakov, S., Borkova, D., Botchan, M.R., Bouck, J., Brokstein, P., Brottier, P., Burtis, K.C., Busam, D.A., Butler, H., Cadieu, E., Center, A., Chandra, I., Cherry, J.M., Cawley, S., Dahlke, C., Davenport, L.B., Davies, P., de Pablos, B., Delcher, A., Deng, Z., Mays, A.D., Dew, I., Dietz, S.M., Dodson, K., Doup, L.E., Downes, M., Dugan-Rocha, S., Dunkov, B.C., Dunn, P., Durbin, K.J., Evangelista, C.C., Ferraz, C., Ferriera, S., Fleischmann, W., Fosler, C., Gabrielian, A.E., Garg, N.S., Gelbart, W.M., Glasser, K., Glodek, A., Gong, F., Gorrell, J.H., Gu, Z., Guan, P., Harris, M., Harris, N.L., Harvey, D., Heiman, T.J., Hernandez, J.R., Houck, J., Hostin, D., Houston, K.A., Howland, T.J., Wei, M.H., Ibegwam, C., Jalali, M., Kalush, F., Karpen, G.H., Ke, Z., Kennison, J.A., Ketchum, K.A., Kimmel, B.E., Kodira, C.D., Kraft, C., Kravitz, S., Kulp, D., Lai, Z., Lasko, P., Lei, Y., Levitsky, A.A., Li, J., Li, Z., Liang, Y., Lin, X., Liu, X., Mattei, B., McIntosh, T.C., McLeod, M.P., McPherson, D., Merkulov, G., Milshina, N. V, Mobarry, C., Morris, J., Moshrefi, A., Mount, S.M., Moy, M., Murphy, B., Murphy, L., Muzny, D.M., Nelson, D.L., Nelson, D.R., Nelson, K.A., Nixon, K., Nusskern, D.R., Pacleb, J.M., Palazzolo, M., Pittman, G.S., Pan, S., Pollard, J., Puri, V., Reese, M.G., Reinert, K., Remington, K., Saunders, R.D., Scheeler, F., Shen, H., Shue, B.C., Sidén-Kiamos, I., Simpson, M., Skupski, M.P., Smith, T., Spier, E., Spradling, A.C., Stapleton, M., Strong, R., Sun, E., Svirskas, R., Tector, C., Turner, R., Venter, E., Wang, A.H., Wang, X., Wang, Z.Y., Wassarman, D.A., Weinstock, G.M., Weissenbach, J., Williams, S.M., WoodageT, Worley, K.C., Wu, D., Yang, S., Yao, Q.A., Ye, J., Yeh, R.F., Zaveri, J.S., Zhan, M., Zhang, G., Zhao, Q., Zheng, L., Zheng, X.H., Zhong, F.N., Zhong, W., Zhou, X., Zhu, S., Zhu, X., Smith, H.O., Gibbs, R.A., Myers, E.W., Rubin, G.M. & Venter, J.C. (2000). The genome sequence of Drosophila melanogaster. Science, 287(5461), pp. 2185-2195.

Ai, M., Min, S., Grosjean, Y., Leblanc, C., Bell, R., Benton, R. & Suh, G.S.B. (2010). Acid sensing by

the Drosophila olfactory system. Nature, 468(7324), pp. 691-695.

- Ament, S.A., Velarde, R.A., Kolodkin, M.H., Moyse, D. & Robinson, G.E. (2011). Neuropeptide Y-like signalling and nutritionally mediated gene expression and behaviour in the honey bee. *Insect Molecular Biology*, 20(3), pp. 335–345.
- Andersson, M.N., Löfstedt, C. & Newcomb, R.D. (2015). Insect olfaction and the evolution of receptor tuning. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 3, pp. 1–14.
- Anton, S. & Homberg, U. (1999). Antennal lobe structure. In: Hansson, B. S. (Ed.) Insect Olfaction. pp. 97–124. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. ISBN 978-3-662-07911-9.
- Arensburger, P., Megy, K., Waterhouse, R.M., Abrudan, J., Amedeo, P., Antelo, B., Bartholomay, L., Bidwell, S., Caler, E., Camara, F., Campbell, C.L., Campbell, K.S., Casola, C., Castro, M.T., Chandramouliswaran, I., Chapman, S.B., Christley, S., Costas, J., Eisenstadt, E., Feschotte, C., Fraser-Liggett, C., Guigo, R., Haas, B., Hammond, M., Hansson, B.S., Hemingway, J., Hill, S.R., Howarth, C., Ignell, R., Kennedy, R.C., Kodira, C.D., Lobo, N.F., Mao, C., Mayhew, G., Michel, K., Mori, A., Liu, N., Naveira, H., Nene, V., Nguyen, N., Pearson, M.D., Pritham, E.J., Puiu, D., Qi, Y., Ranson, H., Ribeiro, J.M.C., Roberston, H.M., Severson, D.W., Shumway, M., Stanke, M., Strausberg, R.L., Sun, C., Sutton, G., Tu, Z., Tubio, J.M.C., Unger, M.F., Vanlandingham, D.L., Vilella, A.J., White, O., White, J.R., Wondji, C.S., Wortman, J., Zdobnov, E.M., Birren, B., Christensen, B.M., Collins, F.H., Cornel, A., Dimopoulos, G., Hannick, L.I., Higgs, S., Lanzaro, G.C., Lawson, D., Lee, N.H., Muskavitch, M.A.T., Raikhel, A.S. & Atkinson, P.W. (2010). Sequencing of *Culex quinquefasciatus* establishes a platform for mosquito comparative genomics. *Science*, 330(6000), pp. 86–88.
- Bajracharya, P., Lu, H.-L. & Pietrantonio, P. V (2014). The red imported fire ant (Solenopsis invicta Buren) kept Y not F: predicted sNPY endogenous ligands deorphanize the short NPF (sNPF) receptor. PLoS ONE, 9(10), p. e109590.
- Bargmann, C.I. (2012). Beyond the connectome: How neuromodulators shape neural circuits. *BioEssays*, 34(6), pp. 458–465.
- Bargmann, C.I. & Marder, E. (2013). From the connectome to brain function. *Nature Methods*, 10(6), pp. 483–490.
- Barrett, A.D.T. (2017). Yellow fever live attenuated vaccine: A very successful live attenuated vaccine but still we have problems controlling the disease. *Vaccine*, pp. 1–5.
- Becker, N., Petric, D., Zgomba, M., Boase, C., Madon, M., Dahl, C. & Kaiser, A. (2010). *Mosquitoes and their control*.(Becker, N., Ed.) 2. ed. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. ISBN 978-3-540-92873-7.
- Bendena, W.G., Donly, B.C. & Tobe, S.S. (1999). Allatostatins: a growing family of neuropeptides with structural and functional diversity. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 897(1), pp. 311–329.
- Bender, E., Buist, A., Jurzak, M., Langlois, X., Baggerman, G., Verhasselt, P., Ercken, M., Guo, H.-Q., Wintmolders, C., Van den Wyngaert, I., Van Oers, I., Schoofs, L. & Luyten, W. (2002).
 Characterization of an orphan G protein-coupled receptor localized in the dorsal root ganglia reveals adenine as a signaling molecule. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(13), pp. 8573–8578.
- Benton, R. (2006). On the ORigin of smell: odorant receptors in insects. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 63(14), pp. 1579–1585.
- Benton, R., Vannice, K.S., Gomez-Diaz, C. & Vosshall, L.B. (2009). Variant ionotropic glutamate receptors as chemosensory receptors in *Drosophila*. *Cell*, 136(1), pp. 149–162.

- Bernier, U. & Kline, D. (2000). Human skin emanations by gas chromatography/mass spectrometry. 2. Identification of volatile compounds that are candidate attractants for the yellow fever mosquito (*Aedes aegypti*). *Analytical Chemistry*, 72(4), pp. 747–756.
- Bernier, U.R., Kline, D.L., Allan, S.A. & Barnard, D.R. (2007). Laboratory comparison of *Aedes* aegypti attraction to human odors and to synthetic human odor compounds and blends. *Journal* of the American Mosquito Control Association, 23(3), pp. 288–293.
- Bernier, U.R., Kline, D.L., Schreck, C.E., Yost, R.A. & Barnard, D.R. (2002). Chemical analysis of human skin emanations: comparison of volatiles from humans that differ in attraction of *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae). *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, 18(3), pp. 186–195.
- Besansky, N.J., Hill, C.A. & Costantini, C. (2004). No accounting for taste: Host preference in malaria vectors. *Trends in Parasitology*, 20(6), pp. 249–251.
- Beshel, J. & Zhong, Y. (2013). Graded encoding of food odor value in the Drosophila brain. Journal of Neuroscience, 33(40), pp. 15693–15704.
- Bhatt, S., Gething, P.W., Brady, O.J., Messina, J.P., Farlow, A.W., Moyes, C.L., Drake, J.M., Brownstein, J.S., Hoen, A.G., Sankoh, O., Myers, M.F., George, D.B., Jaenisch, T., Wint, G.R.W., Simmons, C.P., Scott, T.W., Farrar, J.J. & Hay, S.I. (2013). The global distribution and burden of dengue. *Nature*, 496(7446), pp. 504–507.
- Birse, R.T., Johnson, E.C., Taghert, P.H. & Nässel, D.R. (2006). Widely distributed *Drosophila* Gprotein-coupled receptor (CG7887) is activated by endogenous tachykinin-related peptides. *Journal of Neurobiology*, 66(1), pp. 33–46.
- Bockaert, J. & Pin, J.P. (1999). Molecular tinkering of G protein-coupled receptors: an evolutionary success. *The EMBO Journal*, 18(7), pp. 1723–1729.
- Bohbot, J., Pitts, R.J., Kwon, H.W., Rützler, M., Robertson, H.M. & Zwiebel, L.J. (2007). Molecular characterization of the *Aedes aegypti* odorant receptor gene family. *Insect Molecular Biology*, 16(5), pp. 525–537.
- Bohbot, J.D. & Pitts, R.J. (2015). The narrowing olfactory landscape of insect odorant receptors. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 3(April), pp. 1–10.
- Briegel, H. (1990a). Fecundity, metabolism, and body size in *Anopheles* (Diptera: Cnlicidae), Vectors of Malaria. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 27(5), pp. 839–850.
- Briegel, H. (1990b). Metabolic relationship between female body size, reserves, and fecundity of Aedes aegypti. Journal of Insect Physiology, 36(3), pp. 165–172.
- Briegel, H. & Horler, E. (1993). Multiple blood meals as a reproductive strategy in Anopheles (Diptera: Culicidae). J Med Entomol, 30(6), pp. 975–985.
- Briegel, H., Waltert, A. & Kuhn, R. (2001). Reproductive Physiology of Aedes (Aedimorphus) vexans (Diptera: Culicidae) in Relation to Flight Potential. Journal of Medical Entomology, 38(4), pp. 557–565.
- Brown, M.R., Clark, K.D., Gulia, M., Zhao, Z., Garczynski, S.F., Crim, J.W., Suderman, R.J. & Strand, M.R. (2008). An insulin-like peptide regulates egg maturation and metabolism a in the mosquito *Aedes aegypti. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 105(15), pp. 5716–5721.
- Brown, M.R., Crim, J.W., Arata, R.C., Cai, H.N., Chun, C. & Shen, P. (1999). Identification of a *Drosophila* brain-gut peptide related to the neuropeptide Y family. *Peptides*, 20(9), pp. 1035– 1042.
- Brown, M.R., Klowden, M.J., Crim, J.W., Young, L., Shrouder, L.A. & Lea, A.O. (1994). Endogenous regulation of mosquito host-seeking behavior by a neuropeptide. *Journal of Insect Physiology*,

40(5), pp. 399-406.

Bucher, D. & Marder, E. (2013). SnapShot: Neuromodulation. Cell, 155(2), p. 482-482.e1.

- Caers, J., Van Hiel, M.B., Peymen, K., Zels, S., Van Rompay, L., Van Den Abbeele, J., Schoofs, L. & Beets, I. (2016a). Characterization of a neuropeptide F receptor in the tsetse fly, *Glossina* morsitans morsitans. Journal of Insect Physiology, 93–94, pp. 105–111.
- Caers, J., Peymen, K., Van Hiel, M.B., Van Rompay, L., Van Den Abbeele, J., Schoofs, L. & Beets, I. (2016b). Molecular characterization of a short neuropeptide F signaling system in the tsetse fly, *Glossina morsitans morsitans. General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 235, pp. 142–149.
- Caers, J., Verlinden, H., Zels, S., Vandersmissen, H.P., Vuerinckx, K. & Schoofs, L. (2012). More than two decades of research on insect neuropeptide GPCRs: an overview. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 3, pp. 1–30.
- Cardé, R.T. (2015). Multi-cue integration: How female mosquitoes locate a human host. *Current Biology*, 25(18), pp. 793–795.
- Carey, A.F., Wang, G., Su, C.-Y., Zwiebel, L.J. & Carlson, J.R. (2010). Odorant reception in the malaria mosquito *Anopheles gambiae*. *Nature*, 464(7285), pp. 66–71.
- Carlsson, M.A., Diesner, M., Schachtner, J. & Nässel, D.R. (2010). Multiple neuropeptides in the Drosophila antennal lobe suggest complex modulatory circuits. Journal of Comparative Neurology, 518(16), pp. 3359–3380.
- Castillo, P. & Pietrantonio, P. V. (2013). Differences in sNPF receptor-expressing neurons in brains of Fire Ant (*Solenopsis invicta* Buren) worker subcastes: Indicators for division of labor and nutritional status? *PLoS ONE*, 8(12), p. e83966.
- Chadee, D.D. (2012). Studies on the post-oviposition blood-feeding behaviour of Aedes aegypti (L.) (Diptera: Culicidae) in the laboratory. Pathogens and Global Health, 106(7), pp. 413–417.
- Chen, J., Reiher, W., Hermann-Luibl, C., Sellami, A., Cognigni, P., Kondo, S., Helfrich-Förster, C., Veenstra, J.A. & Wegener, C. (2016). Allatostatin A signalling in *Drosophila* regulates feeding and sleep and is modulated by PDF. *PLOS Genetics*, 12(9), p. e1006346. Chen, M.-E. &
- Pietrantonio, P. V (2006). The short neuropeptide F-like receptor from the red imported fire ant, *Solenopsis invicta* Buren (Hymenoptera: Formicidae). *Archives of Insect Biochemistry* and Physiology, 61(4), pp. 195–208.
- Chou, Y.-H., Spletter, M.L., Yaksi, E., Leong, J.C.S., Wilson, R.I. & Luo, L. (2010). Diversity and wiring variability of olfactory local interneurons in the *Drosophila* antennal lobe. *Nature neuroscience*, 13(4), pp. 439–449.
- Clements, A.N. (1992). *The biology of mosquitoes: Development, nutrition and reproduction*. Cambridge: CABI Publishing. ISBN 0851993745.
- Clements, A.N. (1999). The biology of mosquitoes: sensory, reception, and behaviour. CABI. ISBN 0851993133.
- Coast, G.M. & Schooley, D.A. (2011). Toward a consensus nomenclature for insect neuropeptides and peptide hormones. *Peptides*, 32(3), pp. 620–631.
- Coetzee, M., Hunt, R.H., Wilkerson, R., Torre, A. Della, Coulibaly, M.B. & Besansky, N.J. (2013). Anopheles coluzzii and Anopheles amharicus, new members of the Anopheles gambiae complex. Zootaxa, 3619(3), pp. 246–274.
- Couto, A., Alenius, M. & Dickson, B.J. (2005). Molecular, anatomical, and functional organization of the *Drosophila* olfactory system. *Current Biology*, 15(17), pp. 1535–1547.
- Croset, V., Rytz, R., Cummins, S.F., Budd, A., Brawand, D., Kaessmann, H., Gibson, T.J. & Benton, R. (2010). Ancient protostome origin of chemosensory ionotropic glutamate receptors and the

evolution of insect taste and olfaction. PLoS Genetics, 6(8), p. e1001064. Dacks, A.M.,

- Reale, V., Pi, Y., Zhang, W., Dacks, J.B., Nighorn, A.J. & Evans, P.D. (2013). A characterization of the *Manduca sexta* serotonin receptors in the context of olfactory neuromodulation. *PLoS ONE*, 8(7), p. e69422.
- Dahanukar, A., Hallem, E.A. & Carlson, J.R. (2005). Insect chemoreception. Current Opinion in Neurobiology, 15(4), pp. 423–430.
- Davis, E. (1984a). Development of lactic acid-receptor sensitivity and host-seeking behaviour in newly emerged female *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes. *Journal of Insect Physiology*, 30(3), pp. 211–215.
- Davis, E. (1984b). Regulation of sensitivity in the peripheral chemoreceptor systems for host-seeking behaviour by a haemolymph-borne factor in *Aedes aegypti. Journal of Insect Physiology*, 30(2), pp. 179–183.
- Dekker, T. (2005). Carbon dioxide instantly sensitizes female yellow fever mosquitoes to human skin odours. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 208(15), pp. 2963–2972.
- Deng, X., Yang, H., He, X., Liao, Y., Zheng, C., Zhou, Q., Zhu, C., Zhang, G., Gao, J. & Zhou, N. (2014). Activation of *Bombyx* neuropeptide G protein-coupled receptor A4 via a Gai-dependent signaling pathway by direct interaction with neuropeptide F from silkworm, *Bombyx mori*. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 45(1), pp. 77–88.
- Deng, Y., Zhang, W., Farhat, K., Oberland, S., Gisselmann, G. & Neuhaus, E.M. (2011). The stimulatory Gαs protein is involved in olfactory signal transduction in *Drosophila*. *PLoS ONE*, 6(4), p. e18605.
- Derst, C., Dircksen, H., Meusemann, K., Zhou, X., Liu, S. & Predel, R. (2016). Evolution of neuropeptides in non-pterygote hexapods. *BMC evolutionary biology*, 16(1), p. 51.
- Dhara, A., Eum, J.H., Robertson, A., Gulia-Nuss, M., Vogel, K.J., Clark, K.D., Graf, R., Brown, M.R. & Strand, M.R. (2013). Ovary ecdysteroidogenic hormone functions independently of the insulin receptor in the yellow fever mosquito, *Aedes aegypti. Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 43(12), pp. 1100–1108.
- Dillen, S., Verdonck, R., Zels, S., Van Wielendaele, P. & Vanden Broeck, J. (2014). Identification of the short neuropeptide F precursor in the desert locust: Evidence for an inhibitory role of sNPF in the control of feeding. *Peptides*, 53, pp. 134–139.
- Dillen, S., Zels, S., Verlinden, H., Spit, J., van Wielendaele, P. & Vanden Broeck, J. (2013). Functional characterization of the short neuropeptide F receptor in the desert locust, *Schistocerca gregaria*. *PLoS ONE*, 8(1), p. e53604.
- Dockray, G.J. (2004). The expanding family of -RFamide peptides and their effects on feeding behaviour. *Experimental Physiology*, 89(3), pp. 229–235.
- Dreyer, D., Vitt, H., Dippel, S., Goetz, B., El Jundi, B., Kollmann, M., Huetteroth, W. & Schachtner, J. (2010). 3D standard brain of the red flour beetle *Tribolium Castaneum*: A tool to study metamorphic development and adult Plasticity. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 4(March), p. 3.
- Duvall, L.B., Basrur, N.S., Molina, H., McMeniman, C.J. & Vosshall, L.B. (2017). A neuropeptide signaling system that rapidly enforces paternity in the *Aedes aegypti* mosquito. *bioRxiv*, pp. 9– 13.
- Dweck, H.K.M., Ebrahim, S.A.M., Thoma, M., Mohamed, A.A.M., Keesey, I.W., Trona, F., Lavista-Llanos, S., Svatoš, A., Sachse, S., Knaden, M. & Hansson, B.S. (2015). Pheromones mediating copulation and attraction in *Drosophila*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(21), pp. E2829–E2835.

- Ebrahim, S.A.M., Dweck, H.K.M., Stökl, J., Hofferberth, J.E., Trona, F., Weniger, K., Rybak, J., Seki, Y., Stensmyr, M.C., Sachse, S., Hansson, B.S. & Knaden, M. (2015). *Drosophila* avoids parasitoids by sensing their semiochemicals via a dedicated olfactory circuit. *PLOS Biology*, 13(12), p. e1002318.
- Edman, J.D., Strickman, D., Kittayapong, P. & Scott, T.W. (1992). Female Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae) in thailand rarely feed on sugar. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 29(6), pp. 1035– 1038.
- Elphick, M.R. & Mirabeau, O. (2014). The evolution and variety of RFamide-type neuropeptides: insights from deuterostomian invertebrates. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 5(JUN), pp. 1–11.
- Erdelyan, C.N.G., Mahood, T.H., Bader, T.S.Y. & Whyard, S. (2012). Functional validation of the carbon dioxide receptor genes in *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes using RNA interference. *Insect Molecular Biology*, 21(1), pp. 119–127.
- Fairclough, S.R., Chen, Z., Kramer, E., Zeng, Q., Young, S., Robertson, H.M., Begovic, E., Richter, D.J., Russ, C., Westbrook, M.J., Manning, G., Lang, B.F., Haas, B., Nusbaum, C. & King, N. (2013). Premetazoan genome evolution and the regulation of cell differentiation in the choanoflagellate *Salpingoeca rosetta*. *Genome Biology*, 14(2), p. R15.
- Farajollahi, A., Fonseca, D.M., Kramer, L.D. & Marm Kilpatrick, A. (2011). 'Bird biting' mosquitoes and human disease: A review of the role of *Culex pipiens* complex mosquitoes in epidemiology. *Infection, Genetics and Evolution*, 11(7), pp. 1577–1585.
- Farhan, A., Gulati, J., Groβe-Wilde, E., Vogel, H., Hansson, B.S. & Knaden, M. (2013). The CCHamide 1 receptor modulates sensory perception and olfactory behavior in starved *Drosophila. Scientific reports*, 3, p. 2765.
- Feinsod, F.M. & Spielman, A. (1980). Nutrient-mediated juvenile hormone secretion in mosquitoes. Journal of Insect Physiology, 26(2), pp. 113–117.
- Félix, R.C., Trindade, M., Pires, I.R.P., Fonseca, V.G., Martins, R.S., Silveira, H., Power, D.M. & Cardoso, J.C.R. (2015). Unravelling the evolution of the allatostatin-type A, KISS and galanin peptide-receptor gene families in bilaterians: Insights from *Anopheles* mosquitoes. *PLoS ONE*, 10(7), p. e0130347.
- Fernandes, L. & Briegel, H. (2005). Reproductive physiology of Anopheles gambiae and Anopheles atroparvus. Journal of Vector Ecology, 30(1), pp. 11–26.
- Foster, W. (1995). Mosquito sugar feeding and reproductive energetics. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 40, pp. 443–474.
- Foster, W.A.A. & Takken, W. (2004). Nectar-related vs. human-related volatiles: behavioural response and choice by female and male *Anopheles gambiae* (Diptera: Culicidae) between emergence and first feeding. *Bulletin of Entomological Research*, 94(2), pp. 145–157.
- de Fouchier, A., Walker, W.B., Montagné, N., Steiner, C., Binyameen, M., Schlyter, F., Chertemps, T., Maria, A., François, M.-C., Monsempes, C., Anderson, P., Hansson, B.S., Larsson, M.C. & Jacquin-Joly, E. (2017). Functional evolution of Lepidoptera olfactory receptors revealed by deorphanization of a moth repertoire. *Nature Communications*, 8, p. 15709.
- Fredriksson, R., Lagerström, M.C., Lundin, L.-G. & Schiöth, H.B. (2003). The G-protein-coupled receptors in the human genome form five main families. Phylogenetic analysis, paralogon groups, and fingerprints. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 63(6), pp. 1256–1272.
- Fricker, L.D. (2012). Neuropeptides and Other Bioactive Peptides: From Discovery to Function.(Fricker, L. D., Ed.) Colloquium Series on Neuropeptides Morgan & Claypool Life Sciences. ISBN 1615045066.

- Gadenne, C., Barrozo, R.B. & Anton, S. (2016). Plasticity in insect olfaction: To smell or not to smell? Annual Review of Entomology, 61(1), pp. 317–333.
- Galizia, C.G. (2014). Olfactory coding in the insect brain: Data and conjectures. European Journal of Neuroscience, 39(11), pp. 1784–1795.
- Galizia, C.G. & Rössler, W. (2010). Parallel olfactory systems in insects: anatomy and function. Annual Review of Entomology, 55(1), pp. 399–420.
- Galizia, C.G. & Sachse, S. (2010). Odor Coding in Insects. In: Menini, A. (Ed.) The Neurobiology of Olfaction. CRC Press. ISBN 9781420071979.
- Gantz, V.M., Jasinskiene, N., Tatarenkova, O., Fazekas, A., Macias, V.M., Bier, E. & James, A.A. (2015). Highly efficient Cas9-mediated gene drive for population modification of the malaria vector mosquito *Anopheles stephensi*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 112(49), pp. E6736–E6743.
- Garczynski, S.F., Brown, M.R. & Crim, J.W. (2006). Structural studies of *Drosophila* short neuropeptide F: Occurrence and receptor binding activity. *Peptides*, 27(3), pp. 575–582.
- Garczynski, S.F., Brown, M.R., Shen, P., Murray, T.F. & Crim, J.W. (2002). Characterization of a functional neuropeptide F receptor from *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Peptides*, 23(4), pp. 773– 780.
- Garczynski, S.F., Crim, J.W. & Brown, M.R. (2005). Characterization of neuropeptide F and its receptor from the African malaria mosquito, *Anopheles gambiae*. *Peptides*, 26(1), pp. 99–107.
- Garczynski, S.F., Crim, J.W. & Brown, M.R. (2007). Characterization and expression of the short neuropeptide F receptor in the African malaria mosquito, *Anopheles gambiae*. *Peptides*, 28(1), pp. 109–118.
- Garske, T., Van Kerkhove, M.D., Yactayo, S., Ronveaux, O., Lewis, R.F., Staples, J.E., Perea, W. & Ferguson, N.M. (2014). Yellow fever in Africa: Estimating the burden of disease and impact of mass vaccination from outbreak and serological data. *PLoS Medicine*, 11(5), p. e1001638.
- Gary, R.E. & Foster, W.A. (2001). Effects of available sugar on the reproductive fitness and vectorial capacity of the malaria vector *Anopheles gambiae* (Diptera: Culicidae). *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 38(1), pp. 22–28.
- Gary, R.E. & Foster, W.A. (2006). Diel timing and frequency of sugar feeding in the mosquito Anopheles gambiae, depending on sex, gonotrophic state and resource availability. Medical and Veterinary Entomology, 20(3), pp. 308–316.
- Geier, M. & Boeckh, J. (1999). A new Y-tube olfactometer for mosquitoes to measure the attractiveness of host odours. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, 92(1), pp. 9–19.
- Geier, M., Sass, H. & Boeckh, J. (1996). A search for components in human body odour that attract females of *Aedes aegypti*. Olfaction in mosquito-host interactions, pp. 132–148.
- Ghaninia, M., Hansson, B.S. & Ignell, R. (2007). The antennal lobe of the African malaria mosquito, *Anopheles gambiae* - innervation and three-dimensional reconstruction. *Arthropod Structure & Development*, 36(1), pp. 23–39.
- Gouagna, L., Poueme, R.S., Dabiré, K.R., Fontenille, D., Simard, F., Gouagna, L. & Ouédraogo, J. (2010). Patterns of sugar feeding and host plant preferences in adult males of *An. gambiae* (Diptera: Culicidae). 35(2), pp. 267–276.
- Grabe, V., Baschwitz, A., Dweck, H.K.M., Lavista-Llanos, S., Hansson, B.S. & Sachse, S. (2016). Elucidating the neuronal architecture of olfactory glomeruli in the *Drosophila* antennal lobe. *Cell Reports*, 16(12), pp. 3401–3413.

- Grimmelikhuijzen, C.J., Williamson, M. & Hansen, G.N. (2002). Neuropeptides in cnidarians. *Canadian Journal of Zoology*, 80(10), pp. 1690–1702.
- Grimmelikhuijzen, C.J.P. & Hauser, F. (2012). Mini-review: The evolution of neuropeptide signaling. *Regulatory peptides*, 177(1), pp. S6-9.
- Guerenstein, P.G. & Hildebrand, J.G. (2008). Roles and Effects of Environmental Carbon Dioxide in Insect Life. Annual Review of Entomology, 53(1), pp. 161–178.
- Gui, S.H., Jiang, H.B., Xu, L., Pei, Y.X., Liu, X.Q., Smagghe, G. & Wang, J.J. (2017). Role of a tachykinin-related peptide and its receptor in modulating the olfactory sensitivity in the oriental fruit fly, *Bactrocera dorsalis* (Hendel). *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 80, pp. 71– 78.
- Guidobaldi, F., May-Concha, I.J. & Guerenstein, P.G. (2014). Morphology and physiology of the olfactory system of blood-feeding insects. *Journal of Physiology*, 108(2–3), pp. 96–111.
- Hallem, E.A. & Carlson, J.R. (2006). Coding of Odors by a Receptor Repertoire. *Cell*, 125(1), pp. 143–160.
- Hamer, G.L., Kitron, U.D., Brawn, J.D., Loss, S.R., Ruiz, M.O., Goldberg, T.L. & Walker, E.D. (2008). *Culex pipiens* (Diptera: Culicidae): A bridge vector of West Nile virus to humans. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 45(1), pp. 125–128.
- Hammond, A., Galizi, R., Kyrou, K., Simoni, A., Siniscalchi, C., Katsanos, D., Gribble, M., Baker, D., Marois, E., Russell, S., Burt, A., Windbichler, N., Crisanti, A. & Nolan, T. (2016). A CRISPR-Cas9 gene drive system targeting female reproduction in the malaria mosquito vector *Anopheles gambiae*. *Nature Biotechnology*, 34(1), pp. 78–83.
- Hancock, R.G. & Foster, W.A. (1993). Effects of preblood-meal sugar on sugar seeking and upwind flight by gravid and parous *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae). *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 30(2), pp. 353–359.
- Hancock, R.G. & Foster, W.A. (1997). Larval and adult nutrition effects on blood/nectar choice of *Culex nigripalpus* mosquitoes. *Medical and veterinary entomology*, 11(2), pp. 112–22.
- van Handel, E. (1965). The obese mosquito. Journal of Physiology, 181, pp. 478-486.
- van Handel, E., Edman, J.D., DAY, J.F., Scott, T.W., Clark, G.G., Reiter, P. & Lynn, H.C. (1994). Plant-sugar, glycogen, and lipid assay of *Aedes aegypti* collected in urban Puerto Rico and rural Florida. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, 10(2), pp. 149–153.
- Hansen, K.K., Stafflinger, E., Schneider, M., Hauser, F., Cazzamali, G., Williamson, M., Kollmann, M., Schachtner, J. & Grimmelikhuijzen, C.J.P. (2010). Discovery of a novel insect neuropeptide signaling system closely related to the insect adipokinetic hormone and corazonin hormonal systems. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 285(14), pp. 10736–10747.
- Hansson, B.S. & Christensen, T.A. (1999). Functional characteristics of the antennal lobe. In: Hansson,
 B. S. (Ed.) *Insect Olfaction*. pp. 125–161. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. ISBN 978-3-662-07911-9.
- Harbach, R.E. Mosquito Taxonomic Inventory. (2013). Available from: http://mosquitotaxonomic-inventory.info. [2017-08-15].
- Hauser, F., Cazzamali, G. & Williamson, M. (2006). A review of neurohormone GPCRs present in the fruitfly *Drosophila melanogaster* and the honey bee *Apis mellifera*. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 80(1), pp. 1–19.
- Hauser, F., Cazzamali, G., Williamson, M., Park, Y., Li, B., Tanaka, Y., Predel, R., Neupert, S., Schachtner, J., Verleyen, P. & Grimmelikhuijzen, C.J.P. (2008). A genome-wide inventory of neurohormone GPCRs in the red flour beetle *Tribolium castaneum*. *Frontiers in*

neuroendocrinology, 29(1), pp. 142-65.

- Hauser, F. & Grimmelikhuijzen, C.J.P. (2014). Evolution of the AKH/corazonin/ACP/GnRH receptor superfamily and their ligands in the Protostomia. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 209, pp. 35–49.
- Hearn, M.G., Ren, Y., McBride, E.W., Reveillaud, I., Beinborn, M. & Kopin, A.S. (2002). A Drosophila dopamine 2-like receptor: Molecular characterization and identification of multiple alternatively spliced variants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(22), pp. 14554–14559.
- Hentze, J.L., Carlsson, M.A., Kondo, S., Nässel, D.R. & Rewitz, K.F. (2015). The neuropeptide allatostatin A regulates metabolism and feeding decisions in *Drosophila. Scientific Reports*, 5, p. 11680.
- Hergarden, A.C., Tayler, T.D. & Anderson, D.J. (2012). Allatostatin-A neurons inhibit feeding behavior in adult *Drosophila*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 109(10), pp. 3967–3972.
- Hernández-Martínez, S., Li, Y., Lanz-Mendoza, H., Rodríguez, M.H. & Noriega, F.G. (2005). Immunostaining for allatotropin and allatostatin-A and -C in the mosquitoes *Aedes aegypti* and *Anopheles albimanus. Cell and Tissue Research*, 321(1), pp. 105–113.
- Heuer, C.M., Binzer, M. & Schachtner, J. (2012). SIFamide in the brain of the sphinx moth, *Manduca sexta*. Acta biologica Hungarica, 63(2), pp. 48–57.
- Hewes, R.S. (2001). Neuropeptides and neuropeptide receptors in the *Drosophila melanogaster* genome. *Genome Research*, 11(6), pp. 1126–1142.
- Hill, C.A., Fox, A.N., Pitts, R.J., Kent, L.B., Tan, P.L., Chrystal, M.A., Cravchik, A., Collins, F.H., Robertso, H.M. & Zwiebel, L.J. (2002). G protein-coupled receptors in *Anopheles gambiae*. *Science*, 298(5591), pp. 176–178.
- Hill, S.R., Hansson, B.S. & Ignell, R. (2009). Characterization of antennal trichoid sensilla from female Southern house mosquito, *Culex quinquefasciatus* say. *Chemical Senses*, 34(3), pp. 231–252.
- Ho, I.H.M. & Murrell-Lagnado, R.D. (1999). Molecular mechanism for sodium-dependent activation of G protein-gated K+ channels. *Journal of Physiology*, 520(3), pp. 645–651.
- Homberg, U. & Müller, U. (1999). Neuroactive substances in the antennal lobe. In: Hansson, B. S. (Ed.) Insect Olfaction. pp. 181–206. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. ISBN 978-3-662-07911-9.
- Huang, J., Marchal, E., Hult, E.F., Zels, S., Vanden Broeck, J. & Tobe, S.S. (2014). Mode of action of allatostatins in the regulation of juvenile hormone biosynthesis in the cockroach, *Diploptera punctata. Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 54, pp. 61–68.
- Huetteroth, W. & Schachtner, J. (2005). Standard three-dimensional glomeruli of the *Manduca sexta* antennal lobe: a tool to study both developmental and adult neuronal plasticity. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 319(3), pp. 513–524.
- Hussain, A., Zhang, M., Üçpunar, H.K., Svensson, T., Quillery, E., Gompel, N., Ignell, R. & Grunwald Kadow, I.C. (2016). Ionotropic chemosensory receptors mediate the taste and smell of polyamines. *PLOS Biology*, 14(5), p. e1002454.
- Ida, T., Takahashi, T., Tominaga, H., Sato, T., Sano, H., Kume, K., Ozaki, M., Hiraguchi, T., Shiotani, H., Terajima, S., Nakamura, Y., Mori, K., Yoshida, M., Kato, J., Murakami, N., Miyazato, M., Kangawa, K. & Kojima, M. (2012). Isolation of the bioactive peptides CCHamide-1 and CCHamide-2 from *Drosophila* and their putative role in appetite regulation as ligands for G protein-coupled receptors. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 3, p. 177.
- Ignell, R., Dekker, T., Ghaninia, M. & Hansson, B.S. (2005). Neuronal architecture of the mosquito deutocerebrum. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 493(2), pp. 207–240.

- Ignell, R., Root, C.M., Birse, R.T., Wang, J.W., Nässel, D.R. & Winther, A.M.E. (2009). Presynaptic peptidergic modulation of olfactory receptor neurons in *Drosophila*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106(31), pp. 13070–13075.
- Ignell, R., Sengul, M.S., Hill, S.R. & Hansson, B.S. (2010). Olfaction in vector-host interactions.(Takken, W. & Knols, B. G. J., Eds.) Olfaction in vector-host interactions The Netherlands: Wageningen Academic Publishers. (Ecology and Control of Vector-borne diseases). ISBN 978-90-8686-091-3.
- Ikeya, T., Galic, M., Belawat, P., Nairz, K. & Hafen, E. (2002). Nutrient-Dependent Expression of Insulin-like Peptides from Neuroendocrine Cells in the CNS Contributes to Growth Regulation in *Drosophila. Current Biology*, 12(15), pp. 1293–1300.
- Itskov, P.M. & Ribeiro, C. (2013). The dilemmas of the gournet fly: The molecular and neuronal mechanisms of feeding and nutrient decision making in *Drosophila*. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 7, pp. 1–13.
- Jekely, G. (2013). Global view of the evolution and diversity of metazoan neuropeptide signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(21), pp. 8702–8707.
- Jhumur, U.S., Dötterl, S. & Jürgens, A. (2006). Naïve and conditioned responses of *Culex pipiens* pipiens biotype molestus (Diptera: Culicidae) to flower odors. Journal of Medical Entomology, 43(6), pp. 1164–1170.
- Jhumur, U.S., Dötterl, S. & Jürgens, A. (2007). Electrophysiological and behavioural responses of mosquitoes to volatiles of *Silene otites* (Caryophyllaceae). *Arthropod-Plant Interactions*, 1(4), pp. 245–254.
- Jhumur, U.S., Dötterl, S. & Jürgens, A. (2008). Floral odors of *Silene otites*: Their variability and attractiveness to mosquitoes. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 34(1), pp. 14–25.
- Jiang, H.-B., Gui, S.-H., Xu, L., Pei, Y.-X., Smagghe, G. & Wang, J.-J. (2017). The short neuropeptide F modulates olfactory sensitivity of *Bactrocera dorsalis* upon starvation. *Journal of Insect Physiology*, 99(January), pp. 78–85.
- Jinek, M., Chylinski, K., Fonfara, I., Hauer, M., Doudna, J.A. & Charpentier, E. (2012). A programmable dual-RNA-guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. *Science*, 337(6096), pp. 816–821.
- Johnson, E.C. (2004). Drosophila CG8422 encodes a functional diuretic hormone receptor. Journal of Experimental Biology, 207(5), pp. 743–748.
- Johnson, E.C. (2005). A novel diuretic hormone receptor in *Drosophila*: Evidence for conservation of CGRP signaling. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 208(7), pp. 1239–1246.
- Jones, M.D.R. (1981). The programming of circadian flight-activity in relation to mating and the gonotrophic cycle in the mosquito, *Aedes aegypti. Physiological Entomology*, 6(3), pp. 307–313.
- Jones, M.D.R. & Gubbins, S.J. (1978). Changes in the circadian flight activity of the mosquito Anopheles gambiae in relation to insemination, feeding and oviposition. *Physiological Entomology*, 3(3), pp. 77–84.
- Jones, M.D.R. & Gubbins, S.J. (1979). Modification of female circadian flight-activity by a male accessory gland pheromone in the mosquito, *Culex pipiens quinquefasciatus*. *Physiological Entomology*, 4(4), pp. 345–351.
- Jones, W.D., Cayirlioglu, P., Grunwald Kadow, I. & Vosshall, L.B. (2007). Two chemosensory receptors together mediate carbon dioxide detection in *Drosophila*. *Nature*, 445(7123), pp. 86– 90.
- Judson, C. (1967). Feeding and oviposition behavior in the mosquito Aedes aegypti (L.). I. Preliminary

studies of physiological control mechanisms. The Biological Bulletin, 133(2), pp. 369-377.

- Jung, J.W., Kim, J.H., Pfeiffer, R., Ahn, Y.-J., Page, T.L. & Kwon, H.W. (2013). Neuromodulation of Olfactory Sensitivity in the Peripheral Olfactory Organs of the American Cockroach, *Periplaneta americana. PLoS ONE*, 8(11), p. e81361.
- Kapan, N., Lushchak, O. V., Luo, J. & Nässel, D.R. (2012). Identified peptidergic neurons in the *Drosophila* brain regulate insulin-producing cells, stress responses and metabolism by coexpressed short neuropeptide F and corazonin. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 69(23), pp. 4051–4066.
- Karner, T., Kellner, I., Schultze, A., Breer, H. & Krieger, J. (2015). Co-expression of six tightly clustered odorant receptor genes in the antenna of the malaria mosquito *Anopheles gambiae*. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 3(March), pp. 1–8.
- Kaupp, U.B. (2010). Olfactory signalling in vertebrates and insects: differences and commonalities. *Nature reviews. Neuroscience*, 11(3), pp. 188–200.
- Keil, T.A. (1982). Contacts of pore tubules and sensory dendrites in antennal chemosensilla of a silkmoth: Demonstration of a possible pathway for olfactory molecules. *Tissue and Cell*, 14(3), pp. 451–462.
- Keil, T.A. (1999). Morphology and development of the peripheral olfactory organs. In: Hansson, B. S. (Ed.) *Insect Olfaction*. pp. 5–47. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. ISBN 978-3-662-07911-9.
- Kilpatrick, A.M., Kramer, L.D., Jones, M.J., Marra, P.P. & Daszak, P. (2006). West Nile virus epidemics in North america are driven by shifts in mosquito feeding behavior. *PLoS Biology*, 4(4), p. e82.
- Kim, S.M., Su, C.Y. & Wang, J.W. (2017). Neuromodulation of Innate Behaviors in Drosophila. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 40(1), pp. 327–348.
- Kistler, K.E., Vosshall, L.B. & Matthews, B.J. (2015). Genome engineering with CRISPR-Cas9 in the mosquito Aedes aegypti. Cell Reports, 11(1), pp. 51–60.
- Kleinstiver, B.P., Pattanayak, V., Prew, M.S., Tsai, S.Q., Nguyen, N.T., Zheng, Z. & Joung, J.K. (2016). High-fidelity CRISPR–Cas9 nucleases with no detectable genome-wide off-target effects. *Nature*, 529(7587), pp. 490–495.
- Klowden, M.J. (1981). Initiation and termination of host-seeking inhibition in Aedes aegypti during oöcyte maturation. Journal of Insect Physiology, 27(11), pp. 799–803.
- Klowden, M.J. (1986). Effects of sugar deprivation on the host-seeking behaviour of gravid Aedes aegypti mosquitoes. Journal of Insect Physiology, 32(5), pp. 479–483.
- Klowden, M.J. (1990). The endogenous regulation of mosquito reproductive behavior. *Experientia*, 46(7), pp. 660–670.
- Klowden, M.J. & Blackmer, J.L. (1987). Humoral control of pre-oviposition behaviour in the mosquito, *Aedes aegypti. Journal of Insect Physiology*, 33(10), pp. 689–692.
- Klowden, M.J. & Briegel, H. (1994). Mosquito gonotrophic cycle and multiple feeding potential: contrasts between *Anopheles* and *Aedes* (Diptera: Culicidae). *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 31(4), pp. 618–622.
- Klowden, M.J., Davis, E.E. & Bowen, M.F. (1987). Role of the fat body in the regulation of hostseeking behaviour in the mosquito, *Aedes aegypti. Journal of Insect Physiology*, 33(9), pp. 643– 646.
- Klowden, M.J. & Lea, A.O. (1978). Blood meal size as a factor affecting continued host-seeking by Aedes aegypti (L.). The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene, 27(4), pp. 827–31.
- Klowden, M.J. & Lea, A.O. (1979a). Abdominal distention terminates subsequent host-seeking

behaviour of *Aedes aegypti* following a blood meal. *Journal of Insect Physiology*, 25(7), pp. 583–585.

- Klowden, M.J. & Lea, A.O. (1979b). Humoral inhibition of host-seeking in Aedes aegypti during oöcyte maturation. Journal of Insect Physiology, 25(3), pp. 231–235.
- Ko, K.I., Root, C.M., Lindsay, S.A., Zaninovich, O.A., Shepherd, A.K., Wasserman, S.A., Kim, S.M. & Wang, J.W. (2015). Starvation promotes concerted modulation of appetitive olfactory behavior via parallel neuromodulatory circuits. *eLife*, 4, p. e08298.
- Kofuji, P., Davidson, N. & Lester, H.A. (1995). Evidence that neuronal G-protein-gated inwardly rectifying K+ channels are activated by GI3y subunits and function as heteromultimers. *Neurobiology*, 92(July), pp. 6542–6546.
- Kolhekar, A.S., Roberts, M.S., Jiang, N., Johnson, R.C., Mains, R.E., Eipper, B.A. & Taghert, P.H. (1997). Neuropeptide amidation in *Drosophila*: separate genes encode the two enzymes catalyzing amidation. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 17(4), pp. 1363–1376.
- Kramer, L.D., Styer, L.M. & Ebel, G.D. (2008). A global perspective on the epidemiology of West Nile Virus. Annual Review of Entomology, 53(1), pp. 61–81.
- Krieger, M.J.B., Jahan, N., Riehle, M.A., Cao, C. & Brown, M.R. (2004). Molecular characterization of insulin-like peptide genes and their expression in the African malaria mosquito, *Anopheles* gambiae. Insect Molecular Biology, 13(3), pp. 305–315.
- Kurtovic, A., Widmer, A. & Dickson, B.J. (2007). A single class of olfactory neurons mediates behavioural responses to a *Drosophila* sex pheromone. *Nature*, 446(7135), pp. 542–546.
- Kwon, J.Y., Dahanukar, A., Weiss, L.A. & Carlson, J.R. (2007). The molecular basis of CO₂ reception in *Drosophila*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 104(9), pp. 3574–3578.
- Larsen, M.J., Burton, K.J., Zantello, M.R., Smith, V.G., Lowery, D.L. & Kubiak, T.M. (2001). Type A allatostatins from *Drosophila melanogaster* and *Diplotera puncata* activate two *Drosophila* allatostatin receptors, DAR-1 and DAR-2, expressed in CHO cells. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 286(5), pp. 895–901.
- Larsson, M.C., Domingos, A.I., Jones, W.D., Chiappe, M.E., Amrein, H. & Vosshall, L.B. (2004). Or83b encodes a broadly expressed odorant receptor essential for *Drosophila* olfaction. *Neuron*, 43(5), pp. 703–714.
- Larter, N.K., Sun, J.S. & Carlson, J.R. (2016). Organization and function of *Drosophila* odorant binding proteins. *eLife*, 5, p. e20242.
- Leal, W.S. (2013). Odorant reception in insects: roles of receptors, binding proteins, and degrading enzymes. Annual Review of Entomology, 58(1), pp. 373–391.
- Lee, K.-S., You, K.-H., Choo, J.-K., Han, Y.-M. & Yu, K. (2004). Drosophila short neuropeptide F regulates food intake and body size. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 279(49), pp. 50781– 50789.
- Liesch, J., Bellani, L.L. & Vosshall, L.B. (2013). Functional and genetic characterization of neuropeptide Y-like receptors in *Aedes aegypti*. *PLoS neglected tropical diseases*, 7(10), p. e2486.
- Lingo, P.R., Zhao, Z. & Shen, P. (2007). Co-regulation of cold-resistant food acquisition by insulin- and neuropeptide Y-like systems in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Neuroscience*, 148(2), pp. 371–374.
- Liu, C., Pitts, R.J., Bohbot, J.D., Jones, P.L., Wang, G. & Zwiebel, L.J. (2010). Distinct olfactory signaling mechanisms in the malaria vector mosquito *Anopheles gambiae*. *PLoS Biology*, 8(8), p. e1000467.
- Liu, W.W. & Wilson, R.I. (2013). Glutamate is an inhibitory neurotransmitter in the Drosophila

olfactory system. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 110(25), pp. 10294–10299.

- Lizbinski, K.M., Marsat, G.F. & Dacks, A.M. (2017). Transmitter co-expression reveals key organizational principles of local interneuron heterogeneity in the olfactory system. *bioRxiv*,.
- Van Loy, T., Vandersmissen, H.P., Poels, J., Van Hiel, M.B., Verlinden, H. & Broeck, J. Vanden (2010). Tachykinin-related peptides and their receptors in invertebrates: A current view. *Peptides*, 31(3), pp. 520–524.
- Lu, T., Qiu, Y.T., Wang, G., Kwon, J.Y., Rutzler, M., Kwon, H.-W., Pitts, R.J., van Loon, J.J.A., Takken, W., Carlson, J.R. & Zwiebel, L.J. (2007). Odor coding in the maxillary palp of the Malaria vector mosquito *Anopheles gambiae*. *Current Biology*, 17(18), pp. 1533–1544.
- Lundin, C., Käll, L., Kreher, S.A., Kapp, K., Sonnhammer, E.L., Carlson, J.R., Heijne, G. von & Nilsson, I. (2007). Membrane topology of the *Drosophila* OR83b odorant receptor. *FEBS Letters*, 581(29), pp. 5601–5604.
- Lutz, E.K., Lahondère, C., Vinauger, C. & Riffell, J.A. (2017). Olfactory learning and chemical ecology of olfaction in disease vector mosquitoes: a life history perspective. *Current Opinion in Insect Science*, 20, pp. 75–83.
- Lyimo, I.N. & Ferguson, H.M. (2009). Ecological and evolutionary determinants of host species choice in mosquito vectors. *Trends in Parasitology*, 25(4), pp. 189–196.
- Magnarelli, L.A. (1978). Nectar-feeding by female mosquitoes and its relation to follicular development and parity. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 14(5), pp. 527–530.
- Majeed, S., Hill, S.R., Dekker, T. & Ignell, R. (2017). Detection and perception of generic host volatiles by mosquitoes: responses to CO₂ constrains host-seeking behaviour. *Royal Society Open Science*, 4(5), p. 170189.
- Manda, H., Gouagna, L.C., Foster, W.A., Jackson, R.R., Beier, J.C., Githure, J.I. & Hassanali, A. (2007). Effect of discriminative plant-sugar feeding on the survival and fecundity of *Anopheles gambiae*. *Malaria Journal*, 6(113), pp. 1–11.
- Marquez, A.G., Pietri, J.E., Smithers, H.M., Nuss, A., Antonova, Y., Drexler, A.L., Riehle, M.A., Brown, M.R. & Luckhart, S. (2011). Insulin-like peptides in the mosquito *Anopheles stephensi*: Identification and expression in response to diet and infection with *Plasmodium falciparum*. *General and Comparative Endocrinology*, 173(2), pp. 303–312.
- Martelli, C., Pech, U., Kobbenbring, S., Pauls, D., Bahl, B., Sommer, M.V., Pooryasin, A., Barth, J., Arias, C.W.P., Vassiliou, C., Luna, A.J.F., Poppinga, H., Richter, F.G., Wegener, C., Fiala, A. & Riemensperger, T. (2017). SIFamide translates hunger signals into appetitive and feeding behavior in *Drosophila. Cell Reports*, 20(2), pp. 464–478.
- Martin, J.P., Beyerlein, A., Dacks, A.M., Reisenman, C.E., Riffell, J. a, Lei, H. & Hildebrand, J.G. (2011). The neurobiology of insect olfaction: Sensory processing in a comparative context. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 95(3), pp. 427–447.
- Martinez-Ibarra, J.A., Rodriguez, M.H., Arredondo-Jiménez, J.I. & Yuval, B. (1997). Influence of plant abundance on nectar feeding by *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera : Culicidae) in southern Mexico. *Journal* of Medical Entomology, 34(6), pp. 589–593.
- Matsumoto, S., Brown, M.R., Crim, J.W., Vigna, S.R. & Lea, A.O. (1989). Isolation and primary structure of neuropeptides from the mosquito, *Aedes aegypti*, immunoreactive to FMRFamide antiserum. *Insect Biochemistry*, 19(3), pp. 277–283.
- Matthews, B.J., McBride, C.S., DeGennaro, M., Despo, O. & Vosshall, L.B. (2016). The neurotranscriptome of the *Aedes aegypti* mosquito. *BMC Genomics*, 17(1), p. 32.
- Matuschewski, K. (2017). Vaccines against malaria still a long way to go. The FEBS Journal, pp. 1-9.

- McBride, C.S., Baier, F., Omondi, A.B., Spitzer, S.A., Lutomiah, J., Sang, R., Ignell, R. & Vosshall, L.B. (2014). Evolution of mosquito preference for humans linked to an odorant receptor. *Nature*, 515(7526), pp. 222–227.
- McFarlane, I.D., Graff, D. & Grimmelikhuijzen, C.J.P. (1987). Excitatory actions of antho-RFamide, an anthozoan neuropeptide, on muscles and conducting systems in the sea anemone *Calliactis parsitica. Journal of Experimental Biology*, 133, pp. 157–168.
- McIver, S. (1978). Structure of sensilla trichodea of female Aedes aegypti with comments on innervation of antennal sensilla. Journal of Insect Physiology, 24(5), pp. 383–390.
- McIver, S.B. (1982). Sensilla mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae). Journal of Medical Entomology, 19(5), pp. 489–535.
- Meeusen, T., Mertens, I., De Loof, A. & Schoofs, L. (2003). G protein-coupled receptors in invertebrates: A state of the art. *International Review of Cytology*, 230, pp. 189–261.
- Meola, S.M., Clottens, F.L., Holman, G.M., Nachman, R.J., Nichols, R., Schoofs, L., Wright, M.S., Olson, J.K., Hayes, T.K. & Pendleton, M.W. (1998). Isolation and immunocytochemical characterization of three tachykinin- related peptides from the mosquito, *Culex salinarius*. *Neurochemical Research*, 23(2), pp. 189–202.
- Meola, S.M. & Sittertz-Bhatkar, H. (2002). Neuroendocrine modulation of olfactory sensory neuron signal reception via axo-dendritic synapses in the antennae of the mosquito, *Aedes aegypti*. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*, 18(3), pp. 239–246.
- Mikani, A., Wang, Q.-S. & Takeda, M. (2012). Brain-midgut short neuropeptide F mechanism that inhibits digestive activity of the American cockroach, *Periplaneta americana* upon starvation. *Peptides*, 34(1), pp. 135–144.
- Mirabeau, O. & Joly, J.-S.J.-S. (2013). Molecular evolution of peptidergic signaling systems in bilaterians. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 110(22), pp. E2028–E2037.
- Miyamoto, T., Slone, J., Song, X. & Amrein, H. (2012). A fructose receptor functions as a nutrient sensor in the *Drosophila* brain. *Cell*, 151(5), pp. 1113–1125.
- Montell, C. & Zwiebel, L.J. (2016). Mosquito sensory systems. In: Raikhel, A. S. (Ed.) Advances in Insect Physiology. pp. 293–328. Elsevier Ltd. ISBN 9780128024577.
- Mukunda, L., Lavista-Llanos, S., Hansson, B.S. & Wicher, D. (2014). Dimerisation of the *Drosophila* odorant coreceptor Orco. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 8(August), pp. 1–7.
- Müller, G. & Schlein, Y. (2005). Plant tissues: The frugal diet of mosquitoes in adverse conditions. Medical and Veterinary Entomology, 19(4), pp. 413–422.
- Müller, G.C., Beier, J.C., Traore, S.F., Toure, M.B., Traore, M.M., Bah, S., Doumbia, S. & Schlein, Y. (2010). Field experiments of *Anopheles gambiae* attraction to local fruits/seedpods and flowering plants in Mali to optimize strategies for malaria vector control in Africa using attractive toxic sugar bait methods. *Malaria Journal*, 9(1), p. 262.
- Naccarati, C., Audsley, N., Keen, J.N., Kim, J.-H., Howell, G.J., Kim, Y.-J. & Isaac, R.E. (2012). The host-seeking inhibitory peptide, Aea-HP-1, is made in the male accessory gland and transferred to the female during copulation. *Peptides*, 34(1), pp. 150–157.
- Nagata, S., Matsumoto, S., Nakane, T., Ohara, A., Morooka, N., Konuma, T., Nagai, C. & Nagasawa, H. (2012). Effects of starvation on brain short neuropeptide F-1, -2, and -3 levels and short neuropeptide F receptor expression levels of the silkworm, *Bombyx mori. Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 3(January), p. 3.
- Nakagawa, T. & Vosshall, L.B. (2009). Controversy and consensus: noncanonical signaling mechanisms in the insect olfactory system. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 19(3), pp. 284–

292.

- Naksathit, A.T., Edman, J.D. & Scott, T.W. (1999a). Partitioning of glycogen, lipid, and sugar in ovaries and body remnants of female *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) fed human blood. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 36(1), pp. 18–22.
- Naksathit, A.T., Edman, J.D. & Scott, T.W. (1999b). Utilization of human blood and sugar as nutrients by female *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae). *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 36(1), pp. 13–17.
- Nässel, D.R. (2000). Functional roles of neuropeptides in the insect central nervous system. *Die Naturwissenschaften*, 87(10), pp. 439–49.
- Nässel, D.R. (2002). Neuropeptides in the nervous system of *Drosophila* and other insects: multiple roles as neuromodulators and neurohormones. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 68(1), pp. 1–84.
- Nässel, D.R. (2009). Neuropeptide signaling near and far: how localized and timed is the action of neuropeptides in brain circuits? *Invertebrate Neuroscience*, 9(2), pp. 57–75.
- Nässel, D.R. & Broeck, J. Vanden (2016). Insulin/IGF signaling in *Drosophila* and other insects: Factors that regulate production, release and post-release action of the insulin-like peptides. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 73(2), pp. 271–290.
- Nässel, D.R., Kubrak, O.I., Liu, Y., Luo, J. & Lushchak, O. V (2013). Factors that regulate insulin producing cells and their output in *Drosophila*. *Frontiers in physiology*, 4, p. 252.
- Nässel, D.R., Liu, Y. & Luo, J. (2015). Insulin/IGF signaling and its regulation in *Drosophila*. General and Comparative Endocrinology, 221, pp. 255–266.
- Nässel, D.R. & Wegener, C. (2011). A comparative review of short and long neuropeptide F signaling in invertebrates: Any similarities to vertebrate neuropeptide Y signaling? *Peptides*, 32(6), pp. 1335–1355.
- Nässel, D.R. & Winther, A.M.E. (2010). Drosophila neuropeptides in regulation of physiology and behavior. Progress in Neurobiology, 92(1), pp. 42–104.
- Nayar, J.K. & Sauerman, D.M. (1971). The effects of diet on life span, fecundity and flight potential of Aedes taeniorhynchus adults. Journal of Medical Entomology, 8(5), pp. 506–513.
- Nayar, J.K. & Sauerman, D.M. (1975). The effects of nutrition on survival and fecundity in Florida mosquitoes. Part 1. Utilization of sugar for survival. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 12(1), pp. 92–98.
- Nikbakhtzadeh, M.R., Terbot, J.W., Otienoburu, P.E. & Foster, W.A. (2014). Olfactory basis of floral preference of the malaria vector *Anopheles gambiae* (Diptera: Culicidae) among common African plants. *Journal of Vector Ecology*, 39(2), pp. 372–383.
- Nishikawa, M., Nishino, H., Misaka, Y., Kubota, M., Tsuji, E., Satoji, Y., Ozaki, M. & Yokohari, F. (2008). Sexual Dimorphism in the Antennal Lobe of the Ant *Camponotus japonicus*. *Zoological Science*, 25(2), pp. 195–204.
- Nusbaum, M.P., Blitz, D.M. & Marder, E. (2017). Functional consequences of neuropeptide and smallmolecule co-transmission. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 18(7), pp. 389–403.
- Nyasembe, V.O., Teal, P.E.A., Mukabana, W.R., Tumlinson, J.H. & Torto, B. (2012). Behavioural response of the malaria vector *Anopheles gambiae* to host plant volatiles and synthetic blends. *Parasites & Vectors*, 5(1), p. 234.
- Nyasembe, V.O. & Torto, B. (2014). Volatile phytochemicals as mosquito semiochemicals. *Phytochemistry Letters*, 8(1), pp. 196–201.
- Olsen, S.R., Bhandawat, V. & Wilson, R.I. (2007). Excitatory interactions between olfactory processing channels in the *Drosophila* antennal lobe. *Neuron*, 54(1), pp. 89–103.
- Ons, S. (2017). Neuropeptides in the regulation of Rhodnius prolixus physiology. Journal of Insect
Physiology, 97, pp. 77–92.

- von Oppen, S., Masuh, H., Licastro, S., Zerba, E. & Gonzalez-Audino, P. (2015). A floral-derived attractant for *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes. *Entomologia Experimentalis et Applicata*, 155(3), pp. 184–192.
- Otienoburu, P.E., Ebrahimi, B., Phelan, P.L. & Foster, W.A. (2012). Analysis and optimization of a synthetic milkweed floral attractant for mosquitoes. *Journal of Chemical Ecology*, 38(7), pp. 873–881.
- Overcash, J. & Adelman, Z.N. (2016). Progress in gene editing transgenesis genome manipulation in mosquitoes. In: Raikhel, A. S. (Ed.) Advances in Insect Physiology. pp. 1–35. Elsevier Ltd. ISBN 9780128024577.
- Park, S., Alfa, R.W., Topper, S.M., Kim, G.E.S., Kockel, L. & Kim, S.K. (2014). A genetic strategy to measure circulating *Drosophila* insulin reveals genes regulating insulin production and secretion. *PLoS Genetics*, 10(8), p. e1004555.
- Pates, H. V., Takken, W., Stuke, K. & Curtis, C.F. (2001). Differential behaviour of Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto (Diptera: Culicidae) to human and cow odours in the laboratory. Bulletin of Entomological Research, 91(4), pp. 289–296.
- Pitts, R.J., Derryberry, S.L., Zhang, Z. & Zwiebel, L.J. (2017). Variant ionotropic receptors in the Malaria vector mosquito *Anopheles gambiae* tuned to amines and carboxylic acids. *Scientific Reports*, 7(January), p. 40297.
- Pitts, R.J., Fox, A.N. & Zwiebel, L.J. (2004). A highly conserved candidate chemoreceptor expressed in both olfactory and gustatory tissues in the malaria vector *Anopheles gambiae*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 101(14), pp. 5058–5063.
- Ponlawat, A. & Harrington, L.C. (2005). Blood Feeding Patterns of Aedes aegypti and Aedes albopictus in Thailand. Journal of Medical Entomology, 42(5), pp. 844–849.
- Predel, R., Neupert, S., Garczynski, S.F., Crim, J.W., Brown, M.R., Russell, W.K., Kahnt, J., Russell, D.H. & Nachman, R.J. (2010). Neuropeptidomics of the mosquito *Aedes aegypti. Journal of* proteome research, 9(4), pp. 2006–2015.
- Prigge, S.T., Mains, R.E., Eipper, B. a & Amzel, L.M. (2000). New insights into copper monooxygenases and peptide amidation: structure, mechanism and function. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 57(8), pp. 1236–1259.
- Rein, J., Mustard, J.A., Strauch, M., Smith, B.H. & Galizia, C.G. (2013). Octopamine modulates activity of neural networks in the honey bee antennal lobe. *Journal of Comparative Physiology* A, 199(11), pp. 947–962.
- Reisenman, C.E., Dacks, A.M. & Hildebrand, J.G. (2011). Local interneuron diversity in the primary olfactory center of the moth *Manduca sexta*. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*, 197(6), pp. 653–665.
- Riabinina, O., Task, D., Marr, E., Lin, C.-C., Alford, R., O'Brochta, D.A. & Potter, C.J. (2016). Organization of olfactory centres in the malaria mosquito *Anopheles gambiae*. *Nature Communications*, 7, p. 13010.
- Riehle, M.A., Fan, Y., Cao, C. & Brown, M.R. (2006). Molecular characterization of insulin-like peptides in the yellow fever mosquito, *Aedes aegypti*: Expression, cellular localization, and phylogeny. *Peptides*, 27(11), pp. 2547–2560.
- Riehle, M.A., Garczynski, S.F., Crim, J.W., Hill, C.A. & Brown, M.R. (2002). Neuropeptides and peptide hormones in *Anopheles gambiae*. Science, 298(5591), pp. 172–175.
- Rinker, D.C., Pitts, R.J., Zhou, X., Suh, E., Rokas, A. & Zwiebel, L.J. (2013). Blood meal-induced

changes to antennal transcriptome profiles reveal shifts in odor sensitivities in *Anopheles* gambiae. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 110(20), pp. 8260–8265.

- Robertson, H.M. & Kent, L.B. (2009). Evolution of the gene lineage encoding the carbon dioxide receptor in insects. *Journal of Insect Science*, 9(19), pp. 1–14.
- Root, C.M., Ko, K.I., Jafari, A. & Wang, J.W. (2011). Presynaptic facilitation by neuropeptide signaling mediates odor-driven food search. *Cell*, 145(1), pp. 133–144.
- Russo, F.B., Jungmann, P. & Beltrão-Braga, P.C.B. (2017). Zika infection and the development of neurological defects. *Cellular Microbiology*, (March), pp. 1–6.
- Ruta, V., Datta, S.R., Vasconcelos, M.L., Freeland, J., Looger, L.L. & Axel, R. (2010). A dimorphic pheromone circuit in *Drosophila* from sensory input to descending output. *Nature*, 468(7324), pp. 686–690.
- Rytz, R., Croset, V. & Benton, R. (2013). Ionotropic Receptors (IRs): Chemosensory ionotropic glutamate receptors in *Drosophila* and beyond. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 43(9), pp. 888–897.
- Sachse, S. & Krieger, J. (2011). Olfaction in insects. e-Neuroforum, 2(3), pp. 49-60.
- Sato, K., Pellegrino, M., Nakagawa, T., Nakagawa, T., Vosshall, L.B. & Touhara, K. (2008). Insect olfactory receptors are heteromeric ligand-gated ion channels. *Nature*, 452(7190), pp. 1002– 1006.
- Saveer, A.M., Kromann, S.H., Birgersson, G., Bengtsson, M., Lindblom, T., Balkenius, A., Hansson, B.S., Witzgall, P., Becher, P.G. & Ignell, R. (2012). Floral to green: mating switches moth olfactory coding and preference. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 279(1737), pp. 2314–2322.
- Schachtner, J., Schmidt, M. & Homberg, U. (2005). Organization and evolutionary trends of primary olfactory brain centers in Tetraconata (Crustacea+Hexapoda). Arthropod Structure & Development, 34(3), pp. 257–299.
- Schoofs, L., De Loof, A. & Van Hiel, M.B. (2017). Neuropeptides as regulators of behavior in insects. Annual Review of Entomology, 62(1), pp. 35–52.
- Scott, T.W., Amerasinghe, P.H., Morrison, A.C., Lorenz, L.H., Clark, G.G., Strickman, D., Kittayapong, P. & Edman, J.D. (2000). Longitudinal studies of *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) in Thailand and Puerto Rico: Blood feeding frequency. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 37(1), pp. 89–101.
- Scott, T.W. & Takken, W. (2012). Feeding strategies of anthropophilic mosquitoes result in increased risk of pathogen transmission. *Trends in Parasitology*, 28(3), pp. 114–121.
- Sengupta, P. (2013). The belly rules the nose: Feeding state-dependent modulation of peripheral chemosensory responses. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 23(1), pp. 68–75.
- Shang, Y., Claridge-Chang, A., Sjulson, L., Pypaert, M. & Miesenböck, G. (2007). Excitatory local circuits and their implications for olfactory processing in the fly antennal lobe. *Cell*, 128(3), pp. 601–612.
- Siju, K.P., Hansson, B.S. & Ignell, R. (2008). Immunocytochemical localization of serotonin in the central and peripheral chemosensory system of mosquitoes. *Arthropod Structure & Development*, 37(4), pp. 248–259.
- Siju, K.P., Reifenrath, A., Scheiblich, H., Neupert, S., Predel, R., Hansson, B.S., Schachtner, J. & Ignell, R. (2014). Neuropeptides in the antennal lobe of the yellow fever mosquito, *Aedes* aegypti. Journal of Comparative Neurology, 522(3), pp. 592–608.
- Silbering, A.F. & Benton, R. (2010). Ionotropic and metabotropic mechanisms in chemoreception:

'chance or design'? EMBO reports, 11(3), pp. 173-179.

- Silbering, A.F., Rytz, R., Grosjean, Y., Abuin, L., Ramdya, P., Jefferis, G.S.X.E. & Benton, R. (2011). Complementary function and integrated wiring of the evolutionarily distinct *Drosophila* olfactory subsystems. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31(38), pp. 13357–13375.
- Spencer, C.Y., Pendergast, T.H. & Harrington, L.C. (2005). Fructose variation in the dengue vector, *Aedes aegypti*, during high and low transmission seasons in the Mae Sot region of thailand. *Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association*, 21(2), pp. 177–181.
- Stanek, D.M., Pohl, J., Crim, J.W. & Brown, M.R. (2002). Neuropeptide F and its expression in the yellow fever mosquito, *Aedes aegypti. Peptides*, 23(8), pp. 1367–1378.
- Staubli, F., Jørgensen, T.J.D., Cazzamali, G., Williamson, M., Lenz, C., Søndergaard, L., Roepstorff, P. & Grimmelikhuijzen, C.J.P. (2002). Molecular identification of the insect adipokinetic hormone receptors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99(6), pp. 3446–3451.
- Steinbrecht, R.A. (1997). Pores structures in insect olfactory sensilla: A review of data and concepts. International Journal of Insect Morphology and Embryology, 26(3–4), pp. 229–245.
- Stengl, M. & Funk, N.W. (2013). The role of the coreceptor Orco in insect olfactory transduction. *Journal of Comparative Physiology A*, 199(11), pp. 897–909.
- Stengl, M., Ziegelberger, G., Boekhoff, I. & Krieger, J. (1999). Perireceptor events and transduction mechanisms in insect olfaction. In: Hansson, B. S. (Ed.) *Insect Olfaction*. pp. 49–66. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. ISBN 978-3-662-07911-9.
- Stensmyr, M.C., Dweck, H.K.M., Farhan, A., Ibba, I., Strutz, A., Mukunda, L., Linz, J., Grabe, V., Steck, K., Lavista-Llanos, S., Wicher, D., Sachse, S., Knaden, M., Becher, P.G., Seki, Y. & Hansson, B.S. (2012). A conserved dedicated olfactory circuit for detecting harmful microbes in *Drosophila. Cell*, 151(6), pp. 1345–1357.
- Stone, C. (2013). Ecology of parasite-vector interactions.(Takken, W. & Koenraadt, C. J. M., Eds.) The Netherlands: Wageningen Academic Publishers. (Ecology and Control of Vector-borne diseases). ISBN 978-90-8686-188-0.
- Stracker, T.H., Thompson, S., Grossman, G.L., Riehle, M.A. & Brown, M.R. (2002). Characterization of the AeaHP gene and its expression in the mosquito *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae). *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 39(2), pp. 331–342.
- Straif, S.C. & Beier, J.C. (1996). Effects of sugar availability on the blood-feeding behavior of Anopheles gambiae (Diptera: Culicidae). Journal of Medical Entomology, 33(4), pp. 608–612.
- Strand, M.R., Brown, M.R. & Vogel, K.J. (2016). Mosquito peptide hormones. In: Raikhel, A. S. (Ed.) Advances in Insect Physiology. pp. 145–188. Elsevier Ltd. ISBN 9780128024577.
- Styer, L.M., Minnick, S.L., Sun, A.K. & Scott, T.W. (2007). Mortality and reproductive dynamics of *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) fed human blood. *Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases*, 7(1), pp. 86–98.
- Su, C.-Y. & Wang, J.W. (2014). Modulation of neural circuits: how stimulus context shapes innate behavior in *Drosophila*. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 29, pp. 9–16.
- Subra, R. (1981). Biology and control of *Culex pipiens quinquefasciatus* Say, 1823 (Diptera, Culicidae) with special reference to Africa. *International Journal of Tropical Insect Science*, 1(4), pp. 319–338.
- Suh, E., Bohbot, J.D. & Zwiebel, L.J. (2014). Peripheral olfactory signaling in insects. Current Opinion in Insect Science, 6, pp. 86–92.
- Taghert, P.H. & Nitabach, M.N. (2012). Peptide neuromodulation in invertebrate model systems. *Neuron*, 76(1), pp. 82–97.

- Takken, W., Klowden, M.J. & Chambers, G.M. (1998). Effect of body size on host seeking and blood meal utilization in *Anopheles gambiae sensu stricto* (Diptera: Culicidae): the disadvantage of being small. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 35(5), pp. 639–645.
- Takken, W. & Knols, B.G. (1999). Odor-mediated behavior of Afrotropical malaria mosquitoes. Annual Review of Entomology, 44(1), pp. 131–157.
- Takken, W., van Loon, J.J.. & Adam, W. (2001). Inhibition of host-seeking response and olfactory responsiveness in *Anopheles gambiae* following blood feeding. *Journal of Insect Physiology*, 47(3), pp. 303–310.
- Takken, W. & Verhulst, N.O. (2013). Host preferences of blood-feeding mosquitoes. Annual Review of Entomology, 58(1), pp. 433–453.
- Taparia, T., Ignell, R. & Hill, S.R. (2017). Blood meal induced regulation of the chemosensory gene repertoire in the southern house mosquito. *BMC Genomics*, 18(1), p. 393.
- Terhzaz, S., Rosay, P., Goodwin, S.F. & Veenstra, J.A. (2007). The neuropeptide SIFamide modulates sexual behavior in *Drosophila*. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 352(2), pp. 305–310.
- Todd, J.L. & Baker, T.C. (1999). Function of peripheral olfactory organs. In: Hansson, B. S. (Ed.) Insect Olfaction. pp. 67–96. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. ISBN 978-3-662-07911-9.
- Turell, M.J. (2012). Members of the Culex pipiens complex as vectors of viruses. Journal of the American Mosquito Control Association, 28(4s), pp. 123–126.
- Tuteja, R. (2007). Malaria An overview. FEBS Journal, 274(18), pp. 4670-4679.
- Ulens, C., Daenens, P. & Tytgat, J. (1999). The dual modulation of GIRK1/GIRK2 channels by opioid receptor ligands. *European Journal of Pharmacology*, 385(2–3), pp. 239–245.
- Vargo, A.M. & Foster, W.A. (1982). Responsiveness of female Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae) to flower extracts. Journal of Medical Entomology, 19(6), pp. 710–718.
- Vargo, A.M. & Foster, W.A. (1984). Gonotrophic state and parity of nectar-feeding mosquitoes. *Mosquito News*, 44, pp. 6–10.
- Veenstra, J.A. (2000). Mono- and dibasic proteolytic cleavage sites in insect neuroendocrine peptide precursors. Archives of Insect Biochemistry and Physiology, 43(2), pp. 49–63.
- Verleyen, P., Huybrechts, J., Baggerman, G., Van Lommel, A., De Loof, A. & Schoofs, L. (2004). SIFamide is a highly conserved neuropeptide: a comparative study in different insect species. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 320(2), pp. 334–341.
- Verlinden, H., Gijbels, M., Lismont, E., Lenaerts, C., Vanden Broeck, J. & Marchal, E. (2015). The pleiotropic allatoregulatory neuropeptides and their receptors: A mini-review. *Journal of Insect Physiology*, 80, pp. 2–14.
- Vogel, K.J., Brown, M.R. & Strand, M.R. (2013). Phylogenetic investigation of peptide hormone and growth factor receptors in five dipteran genomes. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 4(DEC).
- Vogel, K.J., Brown, M.R. & Strand, M.R. (2015). Ovary ecdysteroidogenic hormone requires a receptor tyrosine kinase to activate egg formation in the mosquito Aedes aegypti. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 112(16), pp. 5057–5062.
- Vosshall, L.B. & Hansson, B.S. (2011). A Unified Nomenclature System for the Insect Olfactory Coreceptor. *Chemical Senses*, 36(6), pp. 497–498.
- Vosshall, L.B. & Stocker, R.F. (2007). Molecular architecture of smell and taste in *Drosophila*. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 30(1), pp. 505–533.
- Vosshall, L.B., Wong, a M. & Axel, R. (2000). An olfactory sensory map in the fly brain. *Cell*, 102(2), pp. 147–159.

- Wang, C., Chin-Sang, I. & Bendena, W.G. (2012). The FGLamide-allatostatins influence foraging behavior in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *PLoS ONE*, 7(4), p. e36059.
- Wang, J.W. (2012). Presynaptic modulation of early olfactory processing in *Drosophila*. *Developmental Neurobiology*, 72(1), pp. 87–99.
- Wang, Y., Pu, Y. & Shen, P. (2013). Neuropeptide-gated perception of appetitive olfactory inputs in Drosophila larvae. Cell reports, 3(3), pp. 820–30.
- Wegener, C. & Veenstra, J.A. (2015). Chemical identity, function and regulation of enteroendocrine peptides in insects. *Current Opinion in Insect Science*, 11, pp. 8–13.
- Wen, Z., Gulia, M., Clark, K.D., Dhara, A., Crim, J.W., Strand, M.R. & Brown, M.R. (2010). Two insulin-like peptide family members from the mosquito *Aedes aegypti* exhibit differential biological and receptor binding activities. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 328(1–2), pp. 47–55.
- Wettschureck, N. & Offermanns, S. (2005). Mammalian G proteins and their cell type specific functions. *Physilological Reviews*, 85(4), pp. 1159–1204.
- WHO. Fact sheet West nile fever. (2011). Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs354/en/. [2017-07-01].
- WHO (2015a). World health statistics 2015. Geneva: WHO Press. ISBN 9789241564885.
- WHO (2015b). Zika virus outbreaks in the Americas. Weekly epidemiological record, 90(45), pp. 609– 610.
- WHO. Situation report yellow fever 28 October 2016. (2016a). Available from: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/250661/1/yellowfeversitrep28Oct16-eng.pdf?ua=1. [2017-07-01].
- WHO (2016b). World Malaria Report 2016. World Health Organization Geneva: ISBN 9781452205052.
- WHO. Outbreak news Yellow fever Brazil. (2017). Available from: http://www.who.int/csr/don/27-january-2017-yellow-fever-brazil/en/. [2017-07-01]. Wicher,
- D. (2013). Sensory receptors—design principles revisited. Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience, 7(January), pp. 2012–2013.
- Wicher, D. (2015). Olfactory signaling in insects. In: Glatz, R. (Ed.) Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science. 1. ed., pp. 37–54. Elsevier Inc. ISBN 9780128029121.
- Wicher, D., Schäfer, R., Bauernfeind, R., Stensmyr, M.C., Heller, R., Heinemann, S.H. & Hansson, B.S. (2008). *Drosophila* odorant receptors are both ligand-gated and cyclic-nucleotide-activated cation channels. *Nature*, 452(7190), pp. 1007–1011.
- Wilson, R.I. (2013). Early Olfactory Processing in *Drosophila* : Mechanisms and Principles. Annual Review of Neuroscience, 36(1), pp. 217–241.
- Winther, A.M.E., Acebes, A. & Ferrús, A. (2006). Tachykinin-related peptides modulate odor perception and locomotor activity in *Drosophila*. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 31(3), pp. 399–406.
- Woodhead, A.P., Stay, B., Seidel, S.L., Khan, M.A. & Tobe, S.S. (1989). Primary structure of four allatostatins: neuropeptide inhibitors of juvenile hormone synthesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 86(15), pp. 5997–6001 National Academy of Sciences.
- Wu, Q., Wen, T., Lee, G., Park, J.H., Cai, H.N. & Shen, P. (2003). Developmental Control of Foraging and Social Behavior by the *Drosophila* Neuropeptide Y-like System. *Neuron*, 39(1), pp. 147– 161.
- Wu, Q., Zhang, Y., Xu, J. & Shen, P. (2005a). Regulation of hunger-driven behaviors by neural

ribosomal S6 kinase in *Drosophila*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 102(37), pp. 13289–13294.

- Wu, Q., Zhao, Z. & Shen, P. (2005b). Regulation of aversion to noxious food by *Drosophila* neuropeptide Y– and insulin-like systems. *Nature Neuroscience*, 8(10), pp. 1350–1355.
- Yamanaka, N., Yamamoto, S., Zitnan, D., Watanabe, K., Kawada, T., Satake, H., Kaneko, Y., Hiruma, K., Tanaka, Y., Shinoda, T. & Kataoka, H. (2008). Neuropeptide receptor transcriptome reveals unidentified neuroendocrine pathways. *PLoS ONE*, 3(8), p. e3048.
- Yao, C.A., Ignell, R. & Carlson, J.R. (2005). Chemosensory Coding by Neurons in the Coeloconic Sensilla of the *Drosophila* Antenna. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25(37), pp. 8359–8367.
- Yee, W.L. & Foster, W.A. (1992). Diel sugar-feeding and host-seeking rhythms in mosquitoes (Diptera: Culicidae) under laboratory conditions. *Journal of Medical Entomology*, 29(5), pp. 784–791.
- Yin, C., Shen, G., Guo, D., Wang, S., Ma, X., Xiao, H., Liu, J., Zhang, Z., Liu, Y., Zhang, Y., Yu, K., Huang, S. & Li, F. (2016). InsectBase: a resource for insect genomes and transcriptomes. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 44(D1), pp. D801–D807.
- Yoon, J.G. & Stay, B. (1995). Immunocytochemical localization of *Diploptera punctata* allatostatin-like peptide in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 363(3), pp. 475–488.
- Yu, B., Ding, Y. & Mo, J. (2015). Behavioural response of female *Culex pipiens pallens* to common host plant volatiles and synthetic blends. *Parasites & Vectors*, 8(1), p. 598.
- Zwiebel, L.. & Takken, W. (2004). Olfactory regulation of mosquito–host interactions. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*, 34(7), pp. 645–652.

Acknowledgements

My journey through four years of PhD has been an adventure with ups and down, but would not have been the same without so many people, who accompanied me on my way. I would not be the same person writing here without you and for this I'm very grateful.

My family: **Mama** und **Papa**, ich weiss, dass ihr immer für mich da seid und dass egal wie gestresst, traurig oder verloren ich grade bin, sich zu Hause immer jemand um mich sorgt. Vielen Dank für alles was ihr mir auf dem Weg hierher mitgegeben habt. Ich möchte auch meinen Geschwistern danken, die jeder einen eigenen Part in meinem Leben haben. **Stefan**, du bist jemand der mir immer ein Zuhause bietet (es ist am Ende immerhin unser Zimmer), **Simon**, du bist ein solider Mensch und Charakter, **Michi**, trotz unruhigen Jahren in deiner Jugend, bist du immer ein wichtiger Teil der Familie, und **Katherina**, du bist einfach meine Lieblingsschwester.

All the people who lead my way in science deserve my gratitude:

My (main) supervisor, **Rickard**: thank you for helping/guiding/pushing me on my way to where I stand now. I can honestly say, that you pushed me towards my limits and sometimes beyond. Through your guidance, I developed a lot during my PhD time and I came out as a more resilient and maybe wiser person. Your way of straightforward scientific thinking is still something I look up to and I probably even learned a share from that. I left you a few commata, that I misplaced strategically as a memory of our shared writing time.

My (main) co-supervisor, **Sharon**: I'm also grateful for your support during my PhD time. I really enjoyed having you as my office neighbor, in some cases probably a unilateral pleasure, when I kept on popping up with never-ending questions and ideas about statistics and genomics. Whenever I left your offices I felt like I learned something new.

My Marburg supervisor, **Jochen**: You have been a great supervisor during my university education and later also in the beginning years of my PhD. Thank you for guiding me through my first years in science and for giving me the freedom to develop my own ideas. I'm also very grateful for the multitude of conferences and socializing events I attended during these days.

My Copenhagen supervisor, **Frank**: I have to thank you a lot for giving me the opportunity for my re-introduction into the molecular biology. I enjoyed the time in the lab and I think this really increased my future perspectives. I'm pretty sure at silent days you miss the sound of the Victors from the next room, tireless pouring neuropeptides onto CHO cells.

I would also like to thank my expert technical assistance in all the labs I have haunted. I would like to name **Martina** from Marburg. Thank you for constant moral support, lots of fake-smoking breaks and shared stories. Not least for keeping things in order in the lab. I like to thank **Karen** from Copenhagen, for a lot of support with technically all the molecular work and for having an open ear for me, when I needed to verbalize my plans.

Maybe most important of all, I would like to thank my friends and colleagues and flat mates (mostly there are barely any differences):

First of all I would like to thank you **Sebastian 'Basti' 'Bela'** and also congratulate you, for making it into the third academic acknowledgments now; an honor only reserved for the best. I don't think I need to lose many words; you have always been there when I needed you.

Thank you all the people from the lab in Marburg: **Joss**, thanks for all the good time, the shared beers, the times you gave me a place to stay when visiting good old Marburg and for introducing me to various fun games, I wish you good luck with your thesis, we are still in the same boat; **Martin**, you have been a great support especially in transfer of tons of nerd information, may the beard never stop growing; **Marlene**, your cheerful soul always brightened my day. Thanks to all the other people who crossed my path and helped me along the way, **Lisa**, **Svenja**, **Jens**, **Christine**, **Ev**, **Jerome** and **Anna**. A special thank goes to the "Baumhaus-WG", especially **Eric**, **Hannes**, **Leo**, **Janis**, **Darja**, living with you was the greatest time I had in Marburg, there are countless situation I could quote, but I'd better not... I still have the picture you gave me on my desk, reminding me of the good times in Marburg. Not just from Marburg but from these times, my comrades; die Krähenfüsse, thanks for the best time off ('time in') of the year.

Thank you all the people from Copenhagen as well. Basically I can thank all of **Kim's** group, you have made my stay in Copenhagen a good time, but special thanks goes to **Michael**, who was always up for a beer, when work was getting too much and also for smoothen my English ;). **Jorge** and **Christian**, there were happy days when you joined the lab and it was fun roaming the streets of Copenhagen with you.

Now it is time to thank all the people from Sweden. Thank you my flat mates in the Värpinge flat and friends, who offered distraction and a happy atmosphere when not at work, **Elsa**, **Julia**, **Ruben**, **Micke**, **Inigo**, **Aitor**, **Inga**, **Karl**, **Johannes**, **Greta** and many others.

All the people form the chemical ecology group deserve my gratitude; all the seniors, **Teun**, **Matthias**, **Göran**, **Paul**, **Marco**, **Fredrik**, **Marie** and **Peter A** and **W**, thank you for a fruitful and only sometimes little chaotic work environment and **Elisabeth** for being a good soul with an overview over any lab equipment you might need.

Thank you all the former colleagues and friend from the lab, just to mention Christos, Felipe, Boyd, Seb, Prasad, Sophie, Tanvi, Nicole and Michael for all the good time and the discussions and the support. Many friends who are still here and some who are gone made my life in Sweden worthwhile. Daniela, thank you for being a light in dark times. With you I could forget about work and at this time in my PhD, this is the greatest compliment. Anaïs 'Anya', you saw me at my worse and maybe at my best, thanks for being the best office mate I had in Sweden, and I can say that you stepped up from your former position ;). I hope that I gave you a good example what there is to come in a few years. Santosh, gourmet food, beer and Mr Robot. Marit, you are literar(ll)y a great person, I hope you appreciate the poor attempt of a pun. Thank you all my restaurant/drinking/gaming/lab mates, Elin, Veronica, Ben, Mikael, Adrián, Gui and many others. Patrick, Sardinia was only an example of the good time we had. Lucie, your German sounds better, than what I told and thanks for introducing me to now one of you favorite book authors. Mengistu, you are the kindest person on earth, it was a pleasure to fly mosquitoes side by side. Steffi, long gone and much missed, thanks for all the support in times of crisis and we are never too old to crash a kiddy student party. Elsa, we started here together and we have been through ups and downs. Thanks for giving me a push at the right time. Alexa, you have been my longest and best friend here in Sweden. I don't think there are more words needed. Francisco, thanks for all the discussions about SciFi, beers in Lund or in Copenhagen or in Malmö, or after crushing at Patrick's or your place, you are awesome buddy.